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Who we are

Letter from the
Chairperson to
the Minister

VMIA is the Victorian Government’s insurer and risk adviser,
covering the people, places and projects that help Victorians thrive.
From iconic cultural institutions, major infrastructure, public
schools and hospitals to emergency services and not-for-profits,
our clients are diverse but united in their ambition to make a
positive impact in our community. We share this ambition.

And because we operate across Victoria’s public sector,
we’re uniquely placed to connect experts and decision makers
with world-leading research and insights. This leads to smarter
ways of working and partnering to prevent harm.

Meeting our clients’ risk and insurance needs means
they can be confident in the face of uncertainty and
recover quickly when things don’t go to plan.

It underpins our purpose – to build a confident, resilient
Victoria through world-leading harm prevention and recovery.

Our values
Meaningful interactions

Every conversation we have and task
we undertake contributes to achieving
our goals.

Helping Victorians thrive

We are connected to something much
bigger than ourselves and have a role to
play in Victoria’s continued success.

Curious and connected

We’re also here for Victorian homeowners embarking on
domestic building projects, offering cover to protect one of the
biggest personal investments Victorians make in their lives.

We have the curiosity to ask questions,
innovate and partner with clients to
solve problems.

25 September 2020
The Hon Danny Pearson MP
Assistant Treasurer
Level 5, 1 Macarthur Street
EAST MELBOURNE VIC 3002

Shared success

How we provide
value for Victoria
As a State insurer we offer value unique to the
Victorian public sector including:
•

•
•

broad, proactive risk transfer and creative insurance
solutions for State-significant risks not covered on
the open market
competitive pricing that’s significantly
below commercial rates
fair interpretations of policy to protect clients from
significant loss and help them move quickly to restore
critical public services and infrastructure

•

investment in harm prevention to reduce losses and creative
risk transfer solutions for emerging and evolving risks

•

tailored advice to help agencies effectively cover their risk
exposure, while protecting the State and community

•

access to global expertise to support strategic risk planning,
preparation and recovery, and aid joint problem-solving on
shared issues.

We embrace teamwork and celebrate
our clients’ successful outcomes and our
contribution to them.

Our functions
VMIA was established to:
•

assist departments and participating bodies to establish
programs for the identification, quantification and
management of risks

•

monitor risk management by departments and participating
bodies

•

act as insurer for, or provide insurance services to,
departments and participating bodies

•

provide insurance or indemnities to persons or bodies
as required

•

provide risk management advice to the State and risk
management advice and training to departments and
participating bodies

Connected

•

carry out such other functions as are conferred on it
by the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority Act 1996,
or any other Act.

Confident

In March 2010, the Victorian Government directed VMIA
to assume responsibility for providing domestic building
insurance, which is compulsory for builders carrying
out domestic building work in excess of $16,000.

Our aspiration
By 2024, VMIA’s clients will be:

Dear Minister
I am pleased to submit the Annual Report of
the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority
for the period 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020, in
accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994.
Yours sincerely

Covered

by contemporary, commercially
competitive insurance solutions.
to world-leading risk management
advice, insights and innovation.

Elana Rubin
Chairperson, VMIA Board

in making informed,
deliberate risk transfer decisions.
Our clients will never find themselves
unconsciously uninsured.

Victorian Managed Insurance Authority acknowledges the Traditional Custodians of the land on which we do business and we pay
our respects to Elders past, present and emerging. We acknowledge the important contribution that Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander peoples make in creating a thriving Victoria.
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2019–2020 at a glance
$

Ensuring our clients are covered,
connected and confident

$

$2.95m

in premium refunds to qualifying
Victorian maternity hospitals
in the second year of the
Incentivising Better Patient
Safety (IBPS) Program

of Victorian public
health services achieved
IBPS attestation
requirements despite the
impacts of coronavirus

$320m

in total gross claims
paid, compared to
$280m in 2018–19

$500,000

$208b

in early payments for
bushfire claims for
reinstatement of critical
services and infrastructure

Improving our business and operational
performance
First full year of
our Reconciliation
Action Plan

in insured public
assets, up from
$201b in 2018–19

86%

37%

of government
departments and agencies
improved their risk maturity,
above the target of 20%

Client
Net Promotor Score

Assisted

28

174

Optimum Risk Transfer reviews
completed (reaching the target
of 75% of government and
agency clients)

31%

of clients made
a decision on those reviews,
above the target of 25%

6

84%

client learning
workshops with a total of

538

332

clients with coronavirus-related
enquiries and resolved 81% of
these within 48 hours

of VMIA staff
completed cultural
awareness training

+62

Record levels
of employee
engagement at

7.8

placing VMIA in
the ‘excellent’ range
for client sentiment

(on a 0–10 scale)

client attendees

309%

Domestic building
insurance

71,500

increase in cyber insurance
claims and a $756,125
increase in claims payments
made to clients compared to
2018–19

Victorian Managed I nsurance Authority

domestic
building insurance
certificates issued

Annual Report 2019–20

1,945

claims settled and $85 million
in payments to complete
building projects and rectify
defective building works
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Chairperson’s
and CEO’s report
VMIA strives to make a difference for all Victorians; drawing on our risk
and insurance expertise to foster a strong and robust State that is resilient
and responsive to challenges.
We participated in cross-agency working committees and helped
to build capability across the government sector to deal with
state-wide risks, such as cyber risk and climate change.
Our commitment to supporting initiatives that benefit the
Victorian community extends to our Domestic Building Insurance
(DBI) program. In March we celebrated the tenth anniversary of
our entry into the DBI market. Over the years, we’ve consistently
delivered ongoing efficiencies to the way this compulsory
insurance is distributed, and we continue to contribute to interagency efforts to improve consumer protection and reduce red
tape for builders. We’re pleased that the Assistant Treasurer has
opted to extend our role in providing DBI for a further five years.

Delivering more value
This year, we’re proud to have supported our clients and
Victorians during an extraordinary time. We’ve adapted to
meet new demands as our clients and partners look to us to
help navigate an increasingly uncertain environment.
As an organisation, we have rapidly moved to remote
working – a transition that would not have been possible
without the commitment and goodwill of all our people.
We are both proud of, and grateful for, their support.
At the same time, our portfolio of insured public assets has
grown to $208 billion, confirming our position as one of the
world’s largest public insurers.
The extraordinary events of this year – headlined by coronavirus
and the Black Summer bushfires – have highlighted the specialised
value we bring as a social insurer, with the continued emergence
of complex state-level risks, requiring creative and coordinated
responses across government.
Victorian Government departments and agencies engaged us in
record volumes for our risk and insurance expertise, particularly
in response to the coronavirus pandemic. In some cases, our
clients needed to rapidly evolve their operations. They relied on
us to provide clarity and confidence about their insurance and risk
positions so that they could progress their important work serving
the Victorian community.
We supported the State’s major infrastructure boom by providing
holistic insurance and risk advice on major projects, often during
the early stages, to ensure the State’s interests were adequately
considered and protected.
We worked as a trusted partner, connecting government
departments and agencies with each other and drawing upon
our global insurance and risk partner network to bolster
Victoria’s resilience.
8

Strategy 2024 is an ambitious, five-year plan designed to deliver
more value for our clients. This year marks the first full year
of the implementation of our Strategy, and clients are already
experiencing the tangible benefits of being covered, connected
and confident in all aspects of their work.
We are building our new core technology platform – the flagship
enabler of Strategy 2024 – which puts insurance, claims and
risk services at our clients’ fingertips. In June, we commenced
a pilot with a small number of community clients so they could
experience the benefits of this enhanced system at an early stage.
We’ve listened to our clients and continued to create bespoke
solutions to address their insurance and risk advisory needs. In
November, we transitioned to a client relationship model built
upon a much deeper understanding of our clients, and are now
providing them with a more informed and proactive service that
better reflects what they want from us as their insurer and risk
adviser.

Doing more with our data
Data is critical to supporting our clients in making informed,
deliberate risk transfer and risk management decisions.
Strategy 2024 centres around a technological uplift to better
harness data and deliver new insights, enabling our clients to
make educated and timely decisions.
During the bushfires in December and January, we developed
an interim solution that overlaid Emergency Management
Victoria data on active fire fronts with our own data to help
our clients identify assets under threat or lost. This assisted
with early loss assessment and meant we could better support
our clients, including releasing funds early to expedite recovery.
We will evolve this to a fully automated solution ahead of the
2020–21 fire season. It is a great example of our people showing
initiative and bringing their talent to the table to create solutions
that better serve our clients.
Victorian Managed I nsurance Authority

We are also using the rich DBI data we have collected during
10 years in the market to collaborate with the Department of
Treasury and Finance, the Victorian Building Authority and other
agencies, to help reduce the incidence and costs associated with
commonly occurring building defects, educate consumers and
improve building practices and training in the sector.

Supporting the State’s Big Build in growing Victoria
We continue to provide valued insurance advisory services to
support major infrastructure projects under the auspices of the
Victorian Government’s transformative Big Build program. We
are pleased to be working with the North East Link Project, adding
to our ever-growing insurance portfolio of major infrastructure
projects. We aim for commercially competitive premiums, but price
is not the only determining factor – we take on risks that the private
market, driven largely by commercial imperatives, would not. As
the State makes a concerted effort to boost the economy in the
context of the coronavirus pandemic, VMIA’s insurance expertise is
being sought to support these developments and deliver long-term
benefits across Victoria.

Innovative products and solutions for everevolving risks
As a public insurer, we’re driven to support our clients to improve
outcomes for the community through strategic harm-prevention
efforts and creative insurance solutions that deal with new and
emerging threats.
By its very nature, cyber risk is constantly evolving, and we work
hard to ensure our clients have access to the best coverage
available. This year, we increased liability cover on all cyber policies
to $100 million and included new coverage of up to $50,000 for
the preparation of loss reports. We supported the Department
of Premier and Cabinet’s Cyber Incident Response Service in
completing the forensic assessment of the Barwon Health network
systems following the State’s largest cyber-attack, and will be
incorporating new policy refinements for our clients next year,
including the addition of ‘betterment’ clauses that fund upgrades to
breached IT infrastructure to add improved future protection.

A strong, flexible workforce that contributes to a
more resilient Victoria
Our people have relished the opportunity to support our clients
through this challenging year and have embraced our more
strategic and empathetic client service approach.
Our previous investment in enabling our staff to work flexibly laid
the foundation for us to seamlessly transition to 100% remote
working by 18 March 2020. Our people continued to offer an
undisrupted service to clients, who needed us more than ever in
some cases, as we guided them through scenarios and implemented
responsive insurance solutions.

Employee wellbeing is our top priority. Throughout this period,
we have invested in strategies to protect and promote wellbeing,
and to ensure our people are connected with one another and feel
valued, supported and cared for.
We continue to work towards making VMIA an inclusive and
diverse workplace, achieving all key aspirations set out in our
three-year diversity and inclusion roadmap. In this first year of our
Reconciliation Action Plan, more than 86% of our people completed
cultural awareness training. As at 30 June, we achieved gender pay
parity in seven out of the eight pay grades across the organisation,
further progressing on our commitment to creating an equitable
workplace.

Financial results
In a challenging year for the insurance sector, VMIA’s financial
position remains strong, with our insurance funding ratio at
118% as at 30 June 2020. This year, VMIA incurred an operating
loss of $389 million. Reduced investment returns as a result of
the economic impact of the coronavirus pandemic, together with
an increase in claims across all portfolios were the main drivers of
this loss. The catastrophic bushfires, continued deterioration in the
domestic building claims, and increases in liabilities relating to child
protection and medical indemnity all contributed to a worse than
expected claims result.
As the full impact of the coronavirus pandemic becomes clearer
around the globe, we expect a further tightening of the reinsurance
market, with policy terms potentially becoming more restrictive and
expensive. We continue to explore non-traditional solutions for our
clients to ensure they are never unconsciously uninsured.

Acknowledgements
We welcomed Glenn Sedgwick to our Board in November 2019.
With a wealth of experience as a consultant to financial and
information technology services companies across Asia-Pacific,
Glenn brings a unique commercial perspective and rigour to our
organisation and the execution of our strategy.
On behalf of the Board, we thank all the people at VMIA for
bringing their very best to our clients during an extraordinary
year. The momentum as we progress towards our Strategy 2024
goals is palpable. The nature of our work is already transforming
as we strive to meet the evolving needs of our clients, and we look
forward to continuing to build and refine services and products that
truly enable our clients to contribute to a safe and thriving Victoria.
Our organisation is bursting with talented people who are driven to
do work that matters. It is at the heart of everything we do, and has
been the driving force for our collective achievements this year.

Elana Rubin
Chairperson
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Andrew Davies
Chief Executive Officer
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Leadership
team

Strategy 2024

Board

Executive

Elana Rubin (Chairperson)
Appointed Chairperson
September 2017

Andrew Davies
Chief Executive Officer
(Colin Radford resigned
November 2019)

Strategy 2024 is a five-year strategy that we launched in 2018–19. Developed
in close collaboration with our clients, stakeholders and VMIA staff, it’s
designed to support our clients’ ambitions to contribute to a thriving Victoria.

Ross Castle
Appointed June 2019
Christine Christian AO
Appointed February 2016
Resigned October 2019
Jasmine Doak
Appointed March 2018
Claire Keating
Appointed August 2017
Dr Bronwyn King AO
Appointed June 2018

John Brennan
Chief Risk Officer
Bart Clingin
Interim Chief Performance
Officer
Paul Dulfer
Chief Technology Officer
Stephen Green
Executive Manager
Transformation Office

Serryn Hayes
Executive Manager
People and Culture

By meeting our clients’ insurance and risk
management needs, we enable them to focus
on their core business – delivering services and
infrastructure with confidence and certainty.

Efy Karagiannis
Chief Officer DBI
Timothy McLean
Executive Manager
Communications

Strategy 2024 is founded on three design
principles. Our clients will be:

Charlotte Mills
Chief Services Officer

Covered by contemporary,
commercially competitive
insurance solutions.

Sarah Poole
Chief Operating Officer
Peter Thompson
Acting Chief Insurance Officer

Connected to world-leading
risk management advice,
insights and innovation.
Confident to make
informed, deliberate risk
transfer decisions.

Chris Lovell
Appointed June 2019
Glenn Sedgwick
Appointed November 2019

Our clients will never find themselves
unconsciously uninsured.

Strategy 2024 – laying the foundations
In our first full year of Strategy 2024, we have laid the foundations
for our new core IT system and delivered service and product
improvements for our clients. We have:
•

rolled out the first stage of our digital experience to a pilot
group of school councils allowing them to view and change
their insurance details and make a claim online

•

delivered enhanced data-driven insights for many clients to
help them better understand claims drivers and enable our
people to engage in more strategic, informed conversations
with clients

•

re-worded our most commonly used insurance policies so
that they are clearer, more consistent and easier for clients to
understand

•

sourced alternative and proactive solutions for our clients.
This includes supporting clients with Optimum Risk Transfer
solutions that will reduce volatility for the State’s balance
sheet and provide savings for clients by reducing large
deductibles and the cost of managing claims under those
thresholds

•

introduced new, co-designed risk training and practical tools
for clients on control effectiveness and risk culture.

These initiatives are discussed in more detail throughout
this report.
Each of these deliverables has in turn benefited our people,
who are now better equipped and empowered to support
clients in a more strategic manner. We have access to better
data through improved system integration and, by streamlining
our products and processes, our people can focus on higher-value
tasks and advice for clients.

It’s been a busy and rewarding
year and we thank all VMIA
staff for contributing so
much to our progress.
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Supporting a resilient Victoria
during an extraordinary period
Unprecedented. It’s a word that has become synonymous with 2020.
It began in devastating form, with bushfires ravaging our State with speed and
ferocity during December and January, now referred to as our Black Summer.
Just as the recovery efforts were in full swing to restore
devastated communities in eastern Victoria, a global pandemic
– the coronavirus – arrived. Never has our role in contributing
to a strong, resilient Victoria been more important or rewarding
for our people.

Black Summer bushfire response
In the last days of 2019, catastrophic bushfires broke out across
Victoria. By 2 January 2020, and with the fires still burning, a
State of Disaster was declared. More than 1.2 million hectares
of land had been burnt and 200 homes were lost.
As the situation unfolded, VMIA assembled a multidisciplinary working group comprising people from our Claims,
Communications, Government Relations and Risk Advisory teams
to coordinate a holistic response. In a developing situation, our
clients relied on us to provide agile service delivery to meet their
emerging needs. The Department of Health and Human Services
(DHHS) was asked to send psychologists into the badly affected
town of Mallacoota and VMIA was able to quickly respond with a
reassurance that their volunteers were covered by insurance.
As the fires were concentrated in national park areas, particularly
around East Gippsland, we knew that the infrastructure in those
areas would be greatly affected. We worked closely with our
most impacted clients – DHHS, Department of Environment,
Land, Water and Planning, Parks Victoria and VicRoads, as well as
Emergency Management Victoria (EMV) and emergency service
organisations.

We briefed our panel loss assessors and established information
protocols to make the claims assessment process as simple and
streamlined as possible.
The last remaining fires in Victoria were extinguished on
27 February. VMIA focused on using geo-spatial mapping,
asset registers and a mix of desktop and onsite inspections
to establish and verify losses in line with our reinsurance
requirements. VMIA personnel visited some of the affected
sites to provide support to our clients.
The assessment process is long and complex. Early on, we
released an interim payment of $500,000 to Parks Victoria to
assist with early clearing work. For each impacted client, we
have moved from the assessment to the recovery phase. This
involves extensive scoping, and engineering work to repair or
rebuild assets to modern building specifications, which will mean
upgrades to some facilities in those areas once the recovery
phase is complete. This is a small silver lining for devastated
communities, many of which rely heavily on seasonal tourism.
We will continue to ensure our clients are supported throughout
the entire recovery phase, which will extend into 2020–21.
Their communities are depending on them during these very
challenging days, and we are here to support them in their efforts
to rebuild and restore some of the most cherished areas of
regional Victoria.

Coronavirus – responding to a global pandemic
Early signs that the coronavirus was becoming a global concern
started to emerge in February, just as Victoria was reeling from
the aftermath of the devastating Black Summer bushfires.
For our clients, the coronavirus presented a unique challenge.
Unlike major natural disaster events, a pandemic is not confined
to geographical areas, nor were the virus’ consequences easily
assessable or known at the outset. And like all Victorians, the
pandemic impacted our own operations as well as our clients. By
mid-February, we had developed the first draft of our Coronavirus
Response Plan, which we executed in early March. By 18 March,
100% of our workforce was working remotely.
VMIA maintained a cross-functional approach to provide advice
for our clients. Early on, our clients had many questions relating
to the implications of the coronavirus response measures
necessitated by the pandemic. We were on hand to assist clients
with understanding their insurance position relating to the
cancellation of planned school trips for example, and we advised
large clients about the implications of cancelling major events
scheduled to be hosted by iconic Victorian cultural and arts
venues.
Restrictions to services and industry resulted in record volumes
in homeowner queries and claims on our domestic building
insurance program. We reassured consumers about their cover
and developed creative ways to maintain service and undertake
site assessments remotely.

We recognised that communication was critical. We needed to
give clients clarity about their insurance arrangements in a time
of great uncertainty. We developed FAQs, and clearly set out
for clients what we would cover and what we wouldn’t. We used
scenarios to bring the evolving situation to life in the context of
our policies, so clients could make decisions with confidence.
At the same time, we were being asked to provide insurance
to support new mechanisms of government to deal with the
pandemic. This included transferring public patients to private
hospitals to free up beds for an influx of coronavirus patients
and ensuring adequate cover for school equipment and devices
to support flexible learning. There were many such examples.
Our people worked incredibly hard to respond to these new and
bespoke requests, while continuing to deliver on our business as
usual services. This was achieved without any service disruption
to clients, all while VMIA transitioned to remote working.
We’re very proud of our ability to adapt and continue delivering
dynamic and valued service to our clients in a period that has truly
tested Victoria’s resilience. Going forward, VMIA will bring our
unique perspective and expertise to support the collective effort
of our clients and the broader Victorian community in managing
the impact of the coronavirus.

For the first time, we used rapidly updating (every three minutes)
data from EMV to overlay with our own geo-spatial asset mapping
information. This meant we could easily identify potential losses
for our clients and notify them as the situation continued to
unfold, raising claims on their behalf. Refer to page 18 for more
information on our data mapping capability.

We will continue to ensure our clients are
supported throughout the entire recovery
phase, which will extend into 2020–21.
12

Victorian Managed I nsurance Authority

Annual Report 2019–20

13

Covered
Risks are evolving rapidly around us. Some – like cyber risk – change so quickly
that we need to update our policies each year. VMIA works to ensure our clients
receive the best insurance products available.
Where the traditional insurance market can’t respond, or it’s
not the best fit for our clients, we try to source an alternative
solution that enables clients to transfer or mitigate the risk.
It’s exciting work. Our people relish the challenge to develop
options that are creative, competitively priced and in some
cases, provide our clients with solutions that are simply not
available in the commercial insurance market.

Simplifying and standardising
our insurance policies
As part of our Strategy 2024 implementation, we prioritised
simplifying and standardising our most commonly used policies.
As a result, clients now have insurance policies that are clear,
consistent and written in language that is easy to understand.

Helping clients to choose the risk
transfer that’s right for them
Our Optimum Risk Transfer (ORT) program is designed to help
clients to better understand their risk exposure and risk tolerance.
We use data and scenario-modelling to support clients to adjust
their coverage, premium and deductible levels to the best level
for their circumstances. This can help to reduce volatility to
the State’s balance sheet and ensure clients develop a solid
understanding of where insurable gaps may exist and make
decisions around retaining or transferring that risk.
As at 30 June, we achieved our target of completing ORT reviews
for 75% of Victorian Government departments and agencies. To
date, 31% of our departmental clients have agreed to implement
our ORT recommendations (against a target of 25%). This is a
very pleasing result, particularly as it was achieved in the context
of implementing our new client relationship model (refer to page
22 for more information) which commenced in November 2019.
Our new service approach is designed to give our clients more
specialised support, greater consistency and a higher degree of
expertise and quality of advice.

Expanding our creative insurance
options for clients
VMIA continues to look for creative insurance solutions that
present a better alternative than traditional insurance products,
or that may be available for otherwise uninsurable risks.
This year, we focused on developing new insurance products
for bushfire and construction risk. As part of our discussions
with clients around ORT, we include consideration of these
new insurance solutions. We anticipate an increase in the
requirement for new solutions in the future, particularly for
previously uninsured risks, such as illegal dumping of waste and
contaminants, as well as climate change-related weather events
and cyber terrorism.

Value for money for our clients
VMIA consistently delivers insurance products for our
clients that offer equal or better value than what is available in
the commercial market. This year, we have contained the
premium pool increase for medical indemnity insurance to 5%,
below the rates of medical inflation for the seventh consecutive
year.
As the State’s insurer, we regularly conduct a premium
benchmarking review. This year’s benchmarking activity
found that, on average, our proposed premiums for
2020–21 are 42% below market premiums.

Connecting our major
projects to global markets
Rail Projects Victoria (RPV) is the Victorian Government
body responsible for the delivery of Melbourne Airport
Rail, the Metro Tunnel Project, Regional Rail Revival, and
the Western Rail Plan. VMIA works closely with RPV on
these Big Build projects, performing a specialised role
that involves coordinating insurance solutions across
these ventures.

Tom McAvaney
Director, Commercial & Legal
Rail Projects Victoria
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“It is difficult to imagine delivering RPV’s projects without
VMIA coordinating our insurance solutions. Through
partnering with us on an international roadshow, VMIA
was able to open up the international insurance market
for the Metro Tunnel.
VMIA has a wealth of practical knowledge about
effective insurance for major projects and helps us
secure the best-value solutions. It is reassuring to have
such dedicated and attentive support at all stages of
project delivery, particularly when we need advice
quickly to mitigate issues as they happen.”
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Covered

Supporting Victoria’s major infrastructure projects
Our role in providing insurance advice and services to support the
Victorian Government’s Big Build continues to grow.
Increasingly, VMIA is being engaged at the outset of projects
to provide strategic insurance advice during the early design
phases, which reflects the value of the advice we can be trusted
to provide. In close partnership with our reinsurance brokers,
we strive to develop innovative ways to insure these complex
projects involving multiple private and public alliances. Our value
as an insurer to the State is never more compelling than in the
way we take a holistic view of the risk to the State – where we can
offer insurance that represents the best value and protection,
we transition from insurance adviser to insurer, subject to the
discretion of each major project.
This has resulted in VMIA working on projects such as the
North East Link – the largest road infrastructure project in
Victoria’s history – the Level Crossing Removal Project,
Major Road Projects Victoria and Rail Projects Victoria,
including the Metro Tunnel Project.

Strengthening our cyber insurance cover for clients
Cyber risk is constantly evolving. As a result, VMIA’s cyber
insurance portfolio undergoes more change than any other VMIA
policy, year on year, to ensure our clients are adequately covered
for cyber-related risks.
In 2019–20, we further increased the liability limit on cyber
policies to $100 million. We also included new Loss Preparation
Costs coverage up to $50,000, to enable an organisation to
engage an independent claims preparer following a network
business interruption loss.

Assisting homeowners
when they need it the most
Deanne first contacted the Domestic Building Insurance
(DBI) team in June 2019 after she discovered defects
in her then-new home. Unable to resolve it through
the builder – who had gone into liquidation – Deanne
contacted VMIA for help. We quickly assisted by providing
a building assessor to inspect her home, expedited the
claims assessment and made a payment, allowing Deanne
to move forward with the process of repairing her home’s
defects.

Deanne H.
DBI client
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“At the time of signing the contract, I’d never heard of
VMIA, and didn’t realise how important it would be later
on. Fast forward to today, and I’m an advocate for VMIA’s
commitment to supporting families like ours.

VMIA has an important role in building capability across
government to identify and manage cyber risk, as well as
supporting clients in the event of a cyber incident. During
the year there has been a significant increase in the number
of cyber incidents affecting Victorian Government departments
and agencies. VMIA has worked collaboratively with the
Department of Premier and Cabinet’s Cyber Incident Response
Service (CIRS) in responding to incidents and assisting our clients
with understanding their entitlements under the
policy and processing claims.

Although the process seemed daunting initially, we
worked through each step together and the team at
VMIA helpfully guided us through the claims period. They
did a thorough and quick assessment of our home and
sped up the turnaround time for our payment.

The State’s largest cyber-attack occurred on 30 September 2019.
A ransomware attack targeted Barwon Health and impacted 24
VMIA clients who accessed the network in the south-west region
of Victoria, including the Gippsland Health Alliance computer
network. VMIA responded to the CIRS’s request for onsite
forensic support through our loss adjustors, and proactively
contacted impacted clients to begin the claims process.

Through this journey I’ve appreciated the empathy the
team at VMIA has shown to us. I am forever grateful to
the helpful and wonderful people at VMIA whose hard
work meant we were able to return to our house and
start our lives in our family home.”

Victorian Managed I nsurance Authority

CarbonNet project
VMIA provides insurance for a joint Commonwealth–State
project known as CarbonNet, within the Department of Jobs,
Precincts and Regions. This project is investigating the potential
for establishing a commercial-scale carbon capture and storage
network in Bass Strait.
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The project involves many insurable components and is an
example of the importance of our work in enabling innovative,
exciting projects to be undertaken in our State.

Domestic building insurance
scheme maturing after 10 years
It has been 10 years since the Victorian Government
directed VMIA to begin issuing domestic building insurance
(DBI) – compulsory cover that is required for all home building
and renovations valued at more than $16,000. DBI helps
homeowners when they need it most, such as when their building
project is unable to be completed, or has defects, and their builder
has died, disappeared or become insolvent.
Over the past decade, VMIA has strived to identify and implement
initiatives to improve scheme efficiency and increase consumer
protection. It’s a mark of the progress we’ve made in streamlining
this critical support for Victorian homeowners that the Victorian
Government has opted to extend our role in the DBI market for a
further five years, through to 2026.
In 2019–20, 88% of builders are now using the self-service
functionality of our digital platform, BuildVic. In November 2019,
we received a presentation from a homeowner and building
inspector as part of our client experience program to help our
people build empathy and understanding of the claims process
from the consumer’s perspective.
This year the number of DBI certificates issued was up 8%
from 2018–19, with a total of 71,500 certificates (compared
to 66,000 in 2018–19). We forecast this activity will decrease
significantly as a result of the delayed impact of coronavirus on
the home building industry. The impact may be softened by the
Federal Government’s announcement of a home building stimulus
package, which runs between June and December 2020.
Claims continue to increase, largely driven by defect and noncompletion claims arising from multi-unit buildings. In 2019–20,
we settled 1,945 claims and made $85 million in payments to
Victorian homeowners to help them get back on their feet.

Royal Commission liability cover
VMIA is continuing to support Victorian public sector clients that
are required to respond to the five current Commonwealth and
State Royal Commissions:
•

Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety
(Commonwealth)

•

Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and
Exploitation of People with Disability (Commonwealth)

•

Royal Commission into the Management of Police
Informants (Victoria)

•

Royal Commission into Victoria’s Mental
Health System (Victoria)

•

Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster
Arrangements (Commonwealth).

The cover provided includes the payment of legal fees incurred
for the purpose of representation before each Royal Commission.

17

Connected
Being the State’s insurer means we’re in a great position to use our data, insights
and relationships to contribute to large-scale, whole-of-government harm
prevention activities.
Harnessing the power of that data is one of the central
features of Strategy 2024. But while we work to that, we’re
also looking for opportunities to deliver value for our clients
today by identifying interim solutions to making data capture
and analysis more streamlined.
We’re proud of the work we’ve done so far to deliver
world-class patient safety in our State’s public health
system, but we recognise we need to refresh our
approach, which we have done this year.
After 10 years managing domestic building insurance, we’re now
using our knowledge, data and relationships to support reforms
to create safer, more robust building practices in Victoria.

Using data and insights to add value
to our clients in the immediate term
While we’re working towards implementing our Strategy 2024
technological platform, we wanted to offer our clients earlier
access to the benefits of data integration. We built an interim data
repository, which automatically combines the information located
in our various systems into a single source.
Part of this work included analysing five years’ data from
high-value claims to understand the causal factors relating
to each claim. We also used our geo-spatial asset data and
combined it with digitised site risk survey information.
This enabled our people to have informed and valuable
discussions with clients using data and insights right down
to individual building level in some cases.
We worked with clients to identify insurance protection gaps,
common areas of risk, and emerging claims trends. We have
prioritised the data and insights that will be of most value to
our clients, so we can address those elements first as we journey
towards 2024. It’s another example of VMIA listening to our
clients and making sure that we’re delivering the most value
to them.
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Working smarter with our data
This year we have improved our ability to support clients in the
event of natural disasters, such as bushfires, through enhanced
data integration and automation. In the past, we relied on a
cumbersome, manual process to alert clients that they may be
facing asset losses in a fire-affected area. Not only was this a
labour-intensive process, it was difficult to replicate daily for
large-scale incidents. In 2019–20, we have built relationships
with other agencies, including Emergency Management Victoria,
to access direct data feeds in almost real-time, which we
overlaid onto our geo-spatial asset maps. An email alert is sent
automatically to the team looking after affected clients, allowing
our people to quickly focus on providing expert advice and
highly proactive service to clients when they need us the most.
Our reinsurers are particularly enthused about this innovation.
It enables us to be proactive in helping clients identify and
assess losses, while also providing highly accurate data for
reinsurance purposes, benefiting the loss assessment process.
From 2021, this process will be fully automated. We are
exploring ways to use a similar approach for other extreme
weather events, such as floods.

Core technology platform –
a digital solution for our clients
Technology uplift is a core enabler to achieving our Strategy
2024 aspiration. This year, we commenced development of
our new insurance and risk technology platform – a two-year
program of work designed to provide a high-quality digital
experience for our clients, exceptional data capture and analysis
capabilities, and improved operational efficiency.
In June 2020, we began a pilot with a small number of school
councils, following consultation with the Department of
Education and Training. By logging in via a secure platform,
clients can view a dashboard, easily get a quote for insurance or
access their existing policies to make changes, view claims status
and risk information, as well as lodge claims online.

Victorian Managed I nsurance Authority

Working together with the Victorian
Building Authority to reduce red tape
In 2019–20, we worked with the Victorian Building Authority
to cut red tape for builders around registration and eligibility.
We’re also working to achieve sector-wide adoption of VMIA’s
defect classifications. This helps create a comprehensive picture
of common defects across the State, which can be used to improve
builder education and contribute to better building practices in
the State.
In December 2019, the Victorian Government appointed an
Expert Panel on Building Reform to lead a comprehensive
review of Victoria’s building system. VMIA has provided input
into this process, and will continue to be involved over the
coming months in providing suggestions on areas for reform.

Refreshing our approach to better
patient safety across public healthcare
Since 2013–14, VMIA has invested more than $9 million in
patient safety initiatives through our Better Patient Safety
Strategy and its predecessors. The majority of this investment
($7 million) has been in maternity services, with evidence-based
initiatives such as Practical Obstetric Multi-Professional Training
(PROMPT) and the Incentivising Better Patient Safety program
introduced in 2018–19. These initiatives have contributed
to VMIA’s medical indemnity premium increases being below
medical inflation over recent years.
We have also invested in mental healthcare through Safewards,
a $2.4 million harm reduction initiative delivered in partnership
with the Department of Health and Human Services, and several
other behavioural change programs in the clinical setting to
improve patient outcomes and make emergency departments
safer places to work for public health staff.

In 2019, VMIA commenced a full review of the Better Patient
Safety Strategy. A number of changes have occurred in the
Victorian healthcare risk and insurance landscape, including
establishment of Safer Care Victoria and the Victorian Agency
for Health Information. These have required us to rethink our
strategy, particularly in relation to the way we commission and
facilitate research into harm prevention. We look forward to
finalising our refreshed strategy in the coming year and working
closely with our government agency partners to improve safety in
public health settings.

Investing in safer birthing suites
Now in its second year, our Incentivising Better Patient Safety
program delivered more than $2.95 million in medical indemnity
premium refunds to be reinvested into Victoria’s public maternity
services.
The state-wide initiative rewards hospitals for training 80%
of their birth suite clinicians in neonatal resuscitation, foetal
surveillance and multidisciplinary emergency scenarios – all key
areas of risk in the birth suite.
Due to coronavirus, VMIA adjusted the reporting period to
include any training completed between 1 March 2019 and
29 February 2020. This enabled hospitals to ensure their staff
were protected, while providing continuity of this vital program
which improves safety for mothers and babies. This year, 84% of
Victorian public health services achieved the adjusted attestation
requirements, which is a fantastic result.

We have built relationships with
other agencies, including Emergency
Management Victoria, to access direct
data feeds in almost real time, allowing
us to help clients identify and assess losses.
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Connected

Together with Victorian health services, we
conducted behaviour change trials to explore
how simple, scalable interventions could reduce
avoidable risks in delivering hospital care.
BehaviourWorks partnership – trials to
improve patient safety

Building the State’s resilience in the face
of increasing cyber-attacks

In March 2017, VMIA, BehaviourWorks Australia and The
Shannon Company embarked on a three-year Research and
Innovation Program. Together with Victorian health services,
we conducted behaviour change trials to explore how simple,
scalable interventions could reduce avoidable risks in delivering
hospital care.

Following the State’s largest cyber-attack on South West Alliance
of Rural Health, VMIA facilitated a post incident review of the
response. We have supported the Department of Premier and
Cabinet (DPC) in the implementation of findings by tapping into
our global reinsurance network for their cyber recovery expertise,
as well as seconding one of our Senior Risk Advisers, highly
experienced in incident response.

The trials were designed to evaluate the potential to improve
patient outcomes and safety, particularly in those areas identified
as contributing to medical indemnity claims such as misdiagnosis.
Targeted areas included boardroom communication, clinical
decision making, escalation of care and communication between
patients and doctors. An overview of the trials and outcomes is
available at vmiaresearchandinnovation.com.au

Contributing to the response to State-wide risk

Encouraging innovation
in harm prevention
BehaviourWorks Australia conducts research in
collaboration with behaviour change practitioners
in government, industry and the not-for-profit sector.
In March 2017, BehaviourWorks Australia and The
Shannon Company joined forces with VMIA to develop
a three-year Research and Innovation Program, that
investigates how human behaviour – the way health
workers think and act – can impact patient outcomes.

Dr Bernice Plant
Research fellow
BehaviourWorks Australia,
Monash Sustainable Development Institute
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“Good partnerships are essential for the work we do.
VMIA’s knowledge and experience has helped provide
support, data and specialist expertise to build a more
complete understanding around patient safety. Through
close collaboration, we’ve worked to ensure that the
interventions we tested were feasible and achieved
promising results and impacts.
As an early career researcher, I have appreciated
working with some of VMIA’s female team leaders on
this project — they have served as strong role models and
are passionate about the challenges in patient safety.”

Victorian Managed I nsurance Authority

Risk is increasingly unconfined by organisational or geographical
limits. Climate change, cyber terrorism and the most recent
example of the impact of a global pandemic, require us to work
together across the public and private sectors to identify and
manage risks shared by us all.

We are working with DPC to measure cyber security maturity
across the Victorian Government to promote better risk
ownership and management, as well as aligning our respective
cyber security training programs. This is a great example of using
insights to create a whole-of-government snapshot that can
inform a strategic response to lift cyber risk maturity at both
individual client and whole-of-government levels.
VMIA is also working across government to help understand the
implications of state-wide and concurrent risk scenarios, such as
bushfires occurring during a global pandemic.

We support the state in two ways – through risk advice to
Government and collaboration with individual departments
that need support to implement actions arising from wholeof-government responses to State-wide risks. In 2019–20, we
supported our clients to embed climate change scenario planning
into their risk planning activities. We are also developing a cyber
security maturity self-assessment service so clients can better
understand their cyber maturity and make informed decisions
about which cyber security improvements
to prioritise.
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Confident
We aspire for our clients to feel assured that they are making informed decisions
about risk and insurance. Our role is to earn their respect as a trusted partner. This
year we have begun to realign our client relationship model to better suit the needs
and expectations of our clients.
Together with improved technology, our transition towards our
new relationship model will enable us to better understand our
clients and deliver a contemporary, agile and high-quality client
experience.

Building empathy and value for clients
through our new client relationship model
Empathy is at the heart of our new client service approach. We
strive to develop a deep understanding of our clients so that we
can provide a service that is responsive and valued. We aim to
have conversations with clients that are increasingly aided by data
and insights.

Collaborating on whole-of-government
climate change risk
We continue to support the Department of Environment, Land,
Water and Planning (DELWP) and the Department of Treasury
and Finance in leading the whole-of-government approach to
climate change, a State-significant risk. We are assisting DELWP
as the lead department in implementing the recommendations
from the deep dive into environmental risks conducted in 2018–
19. This includes developing training and guidance materials
and providing risk advisory services to support clients to include
climate change into risk management and planning.

Our new functional model aligns our resources to match the
varying needs, scales and complexities of our clients. This has
enabled us to offer clients a more consistent, strategic service,
according to their particular requirements. We’ve worked to
ensure our interactions with clients whether in person or via
phone calls, group forums, education workshops and digital
platforms, are coordinated and contribute to a positive client
experience.
We have internal teams dedicated to support our large
departmental clients and where required, we can execute
recommendations from Interdepartmental Committees
regarding State-significant or state-wide risks.

Tackling climate
change

For our community service organisations, we’re focused on
making it easy and simple by working towards providing a
seamless digital experience.

Our new functional model aligns our resources to
match the varying needs, scales and complexities
of our clients. This has enabled us to offer clients
a more consistent, strategic service, according to
their particular requirements.
22
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VMIA and DELWP work together to develop guidance
and training materials to support climate risk management
across the Victorian Government. As the lead agency for
climate change, DELWP provides subject matter expertise
to the design and build processes for the guidance
and training, while VMIA contributes expertise in risk
identification and management.

“VMIA’s accessibility and willingness to provide
meaningful advice and feedback in a timely manner
has been a highlight of our working relationship.
They’ve been proactive, cooperative and communicative,
focusing on user-centric platforms and formats that
promote clarity and collaboration.
We value their structured approach with clear
frameworks for project delivery that help us
understand and manage risks for the project.”

Lana Kovac
Director, Climate Change Policy – Adaptation and Risk
DELWP
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Confident

Improved client engagement and satisfaction

Supporting community organisations

A key performance target of Strategy 2024 is ensuring client
satisfaction is maintained or improved while we execute our
strategy. VMIA measures client satisfaction using Net Promotor
Score (NPS). In July 2019 we launched a new platform to measure
and report NPS, which simplifies, automates and streamlines the
process. Since the introduction of the system, the survey response
rate has considerably improved.

This year, 120 Community Service Organisations (CSOs) offering
disability services were required to transition from Department
of Health and Human Services (DHHS) funding to the federal
scheme, which necessitated a change to their insurance
arrangements. VMIA wanted to make the transition as smooth
as possible. We ran a forum with National Disability Services and
DHHS to help CSOs develop their understanding of governance
and risk reporting issues, what questions to ask a commercial
insurer when seeking quotes, and tips for dealing
with brokers and insurers.

At 30 June, our 12-month rolling NPS score was +62,
compared to +46 in 2018–19. This is a great result and reflects
the significant work we have done to improve our interactions
with clients. This work has included pivoting to our new client
relationship model, communicating with clients using our
refreshed, less formal brand voice and involving clients in
the development of our services.
The NPS is also testament to our continued investment
in building a high-performing multidisciplinary claims team
and legal panel to resolve claims in a client focused,
collaborative and responsive way.

Following the success of this group session, we convened a
half-day forum for CSOs that provide domestic violence services
to help them better understand specific risk management and
governance issues in their operations. We responded quickly to
evolve further sessions into a digital format to meet client needs
given the coronavirus restrictions.

Enabling the expansion of Mercy Health’s
Breastmilk Bank
The Mercy Health Breastmilk Bank is Victoria’s first and only
breastmilk bank. It provides vulnerable infants with access to
safe, screened and pasteurised donor milk. Due to the strict rules
governing how the milk is collected, treated and distributed, the
milk collection was restricted to only those mothers who gave
birth at Mercy Hospital, or who had babies in neonatal intensive
care units. Mercy wanted to expand the bank and VMIA fully
supported this effort by facilitating discussions with DHHS and
Mercy Health that led to the development of a Memorandum of
Understanding between Mercy Health and the Royal Women’s,
Monash Children’s and Royal Children’s hospitals to enable
greater access to pasteurised donor milk at multiple collection
and distribution sites.

Tailoring the renewal process to suit our clients
We introduced a more tailored approach to renewals to
help clients better understand how we calculate premiums
and demystify the process. We improved our communication
materials and ran three sessions to inform clients about
premium calculation and what they can do to reduce premiums.
We will continue to offer these sessions each year ahead
of the renewal cycle.

Lifting public sector risk maturity
Risk Maturity Assessment (RMA) Online is a self-assessment
tool for Victorian Government departments and agencies to
measure their risk maturity and benchmark it against their peers.
This year, 84.9% of Victorian Government agencies completed
the self-assessment, with over a third demonstrating an uplift in
risk maturity.
We have continued to support clients through the self-assessment
process during coronavirus restrictions, by delivering four virtual
RMA Online workshops, which were very well received. This format
will now become part of our ongoing offer to clients, particularly in
the regional areas.
In September 2019, we ran a Risk Maturity Forum to help
clients understand more about the Victorian Government Risk
Management Framework that underpins RMA Online and the
value of the benchmarking process. We also sought their input
into refinements to the tool so that it better suits their needs
and is easier to understand and use. These changes will be
implemented to RMA Online in 2020–21.

At 30 June, our 12-month rolling NPS score was
+62, compared to +46 in 2018–19. This is a great
result and reflects the significant work we have
done to improve our interactions with clients.
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Business and
operational performance
Work that matters is VMIA’s employee value proposition. It has never had greater
resonance than in 2020, a year in which we have responded to the dual challenges
facing our state of catastrophic bushfires and a global pandemic.
Our people feel deeply engaged with the work that they
do in helping to build a confident, resilient Victoria. As an
organisation, we are committed to providing the right tools,
environment and culture to enable them to succeed.

First full year of our Reconciliation Action Plan
VMIA is committed to contributing to addressing the
generational disadvantage experienced by Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. Following the launch of
VMIA’s first Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) in June 2019,
we had 17 employees join a cross-organisational working
party to participate in progressing initiatives under the plan,
the first year of which is known as ‘Awareness Raising’.
In 2019–20, 86% of our people undertook cultural awareness
training with the Koorie Heritage Trust, exceeding our target
of 75% for the year. We recognise our role in promoting the
inclusion of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples through
our RAP and will continue to actively promote and demonstrate
diversity and inclusion as part of our culture and our practices.
We have amended our supplier procurement procedures
to encourage participation from Indigenous Australian
providers or those aligned with the Victorian Government’s
Social Procurement Framework. We also partnered with the
CareerTrackers program to help develop young Indigenous
Australians interested in pursuing a career in risk management
and insurance.

Completion of our three-year
Diversity and Inclusion Plan
This year marks the completion of our first, three-year Diversity
and Inclusion Plan – a significant milestone that underscores our
commitment to foster, cultivate and build a diverse and inclusive
workforce.
Throughout 2019–20, we have made further progress
towards gender pay equity, expanded our Graduate Program to
include CareerTrackers and continued to develop and provide
opportunities for talented individuals to progress within our
organisation. We have also reviewed our recruitment advertising
to ensure that it reflects diversity and inclusion best practice.
Over half of our people nominated on our Talent Program also
identify with at least one diversity aspect (CALD, Aboriginal or
Torres Strait Islander, age, LGBTIQA+, and/or disability).
In November 2019, our former CEO, Colin Radford, received
the highly respected Australian HR Institute (AHRI) CEO
Diversity Champion Award, which celebrates the advancements
our organisation has achieved in a short space of time.

Empowering
our people

VMIA will continue to actively promote
and demonstrate diversity and inclusion
as part of our culture and our practices.

Bella Coates was an intern with VMIA from December
2019 to February 2020. Over that time, she worked with
the People and Culture team and the Communications
team across a range of enterprise-wide projects, including
furthering our Diversity and Inclusion Plan. Bella is of
Yorta Yorta heritage and applied for her three-month
placement through the CareerTrackers program, which
presents internship opportunities to Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander university students. Participation
in this program was one of VMIA’s key commitments as
part of our RAP to ensure we are providing employment
opportunities to the community.

“My Indigenous background is an integral part
of my identity, and I strongly believe a RAP is vital
to any Australian organisation.
VMIA’s RAP clearly reflects our collective
responsibility to create culturally safe environments,
and is well presented, thorough and perceptive.
Throughout my internship, I was encouraged to
provide feedback and have critical conversations with
the CEO. My managers put time and effort into ensuring
I was given hands-on learning opportunities, and I was
encouraged to be open about my heritage.
During my short time at VMIA I felt very welcomed,
supported and proud to be Aboriginal.”

Bella Coates
Intern, VMIA
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Business and operational
performance

Transition to fully remote working during
the coronavirus restrictions
In response to the coronavirus, our entire workforce transitioned
to remote working on 18 March. The transition was made
without interruption to our clients, with the People and Culture,
Communications and IT teams working collaboratively to inform,
equip and enable all staff to be safely set up and fully operational
from their homes. A range of actions were implemented, including
new leave provisions for illness and caring responsibilities related
to the pandemic in line with the Victorian Public Sector provisions.
Coaching was also provided to team leaders on how to manage
virtual teams.
We offered additional wellbeing support for transitioning to a
virtual environment, while navigating personal and family roles,
and commenced regular enterprise-wide communications
from our CEO.

Gender equality

High employee engagement

We have continued our commitment to achieving gender pay
parity (within a 3% tolerance). As at 30 June, we achieved pay
parity in seven out the eight pay grades across the organisation.
Women represent 57% of our Board and 50% of our Executive
Leadership team, 59% of our organisation’s leaders and 62% of
all staff.

Due to the coronavirus, the annual People Matter Survey across
the Victorian public sector has been postponed. As a result, VMIA
undertook regular ‘pulse’ surveys over the 2019–20 year, with
employees being surveyed between March and June 2020. This
was to ensure we regularly monitored our people’s wellbeing
and engagement during the coronavirus pandemic, and used the
responses to adjust our ways of working as needed. It is pleasing
to see that despite the substantial change necessitated by the
transition to a remote working environment, our employee
engagement increased and has remained high. Over the course of
the year, employees rated their satisfaction of working at VMIA
as 7.8 on a scale of 0 to 10. This follows our highest ever People
Matter score in 2018–19 of 75%.

In February, the Gender Equality Act 2020 was passed in Victoria.
It will come into effect in March 2021 and will apply to all public
service organisations, including VMIA. The legislation requires
that VMIA will conduct an audit, develop an action plan, track
progress and update the action plan every four years. While we
have prioritised gender equality across VMIA in recent years, the
audit and accompanying plan will build on the progress we have
made and identify opportunities for us to continue advancing
gender equality within our organisation.

Flexible working now a key part of our
employee value proposition

As at 30 June, 16 employees were seconded internally and six
were seconded externally. There were 27 employees who had the
opportunity to move up a level into a higher duties role, and 21
employees were promoted, including seven internal leadership
promotions.
VMIA has a pool of highly capable staff and we have made
significant progress in developing opportunities for future leaders
within our organisation to progress into more senior roles. This
not only supports our people to develop their careers with us – it
means VMIA benefits from retaining corporate knowledge and
expertise, and creating a pathway for others to also progress.
This year, 60% of our leadership appointments were sourced
from internal candidates, including our new CEO – the first time
in VMIA’s history that this has occurred. This reinforces that
we have a high-calibre workforce and that investment in talent
succession planning and development has been advantageous to
our people and organisation alike.

Prior to the coronavirus, more than 75% of our people
reported that they had flexible working arrangements in
place (with remote working just one type of flexible working
arrangement). To facilitate this, we had invested in technology
and protocols to enable our people to work remotely, so we were
very well positioned to scale these arrangements quickly, and
seamlessly transition to 100% remote working as a result of the
pandemic.

Breastfeeding Friendly Workplace accreditation

We were delighted to be a finalist in the 2019 AHRI Elizabeth
Broderick Workforce Flexibility Award. This prestigious award
reflects excellence in workforce flexibility, and we will continue to
strive to create opportunities for all people to contribute at VMIA,
while enabling them to thrive with respect to their personal and
family commitments.

Faith room

Developing opportunities for internal talent
development and leadership succession
At VMIA, there are many opportunities for people to move around
the organisation, whether that is via secondment, higher duties
assignment or through promotion.

We were honoured to be a finalist in the AHRI Awards for the
Marshall Goldsmith Talent Management Award in 2019.

In February, we were delighted to receive our accreditation
from the Australian Breastfeeding Association to help support
breastfeeding employees at VMIA. This was an important
contribution to our flexible and inclusive workplace, enabling our
people to continue balancing work and family commitments.

A dedicated faith room was introduced within the organisation
to provide a place for our people to seek solitude and privacy
to engage in cultural, religious and spiritual practices. Strong
employee sentiment saw the creation of a light-filled space,
equipped with privacy blinds, seating, storage and prayer mats for
our staff to access throughout the day. The addition of this room
cements our continued commitment to ensuring our people bring
their best selves to work.

We have continued our
commitment to achieving gender
pay parity and advancing gender
equality within our organisation.
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Financial
summary
Five-year summary of financial results
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Total income1

554,526

651,308

664,427

635,077

437,068

Less reinsurance, claims, commission and administration expenses

943,717

758,951

492,087

295,115

323,159

(389,191)

(107,643)

172,340

339,962

113,909

167,316

208,980

172,548

198,537

200,015

Total assets

2,820,781

2,676,395

2,910,737

2,521,587

2,654,019

Total liabilities

3,081,996

2,548,419

2,267,118

2,050,308

2,361,002

Net assets/(liabilities)

(261,215)

127,976

643,619

471,279

293,017

Operating surplus/(deficit)
Net cash inflow from operating activities

1. Total income figures are subject to fluctuation in value year on year as they include reinsurance recoveries and investment income.

Significant changes in financial position

Subsequent events

At 30 June 2020, total assets were higher than the prior year by
$144.4 million, due to an increase in our investment portfolio and
reinsurance recoveries, resulting from the deferral of the State
budgeted dividend and our claims experience over the year. Total
liabilities increased by $533.6 million, driven by an increase in
gross claims liabilities. During 2019–20, VMIA generated a net
cash inflow of $167.3 million from operating activities. VMIA’s
equity position decreased by $389.2 million to a deficit at 30 June
2020 as a result of the operating loss this year.

No material events affecting VMIA have occurred between
the Balance Sheet date and the date of this report.

Key financial performance indicators

Key financial performance indicators
Pursuant to the Department of Treasury and Finance Corporate
Planning and Performance Reporting Requirements for
Government Business Enterprises, VMIA provides the following
historical summary of its key financial performance indicators.

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

(180.1)

(14.7)

96.0

241.0

307.4

34.4

54.7

45.6

8.1

39.3

Return on Investments (before fees)

1.7%

8.4%

10.6%

12.3%

3.6%

Return on Investments (after fees)

1.1%

7.7%

9.8%

11.4%

3.1%

Performance from Insurance Operations (PFIO)
Actual ($ million)
Budget ($ million)

Financial performance

Performance from insurance operations

Overall, VMIA’s financial position continues to remain solid, with
our insurance funding ratio at 118% as at 30 June 2020. VMIA
had an operating loss of $389.2 million for the 2019–20 year,
which is an adverse variance of $145.4 million compared to the
budgeted loss of $243.8 million. This was primarily driven by
two key factors. Firstly, a reduction in our investment returns
as a result of the economic impact felt across the globe from
the coronavirus pandemic. Secondly, an increase in net claims
incurred across all portfolios, driven primarily by our actual claims
experience in:

Performance from insurance operations (PFIO) is a financial
measure of performance of the State’s insurance system that
attempts to broadly reflect VMIA’s underwriting performance
and is heavily influenced by claims volatility. It is calculated by
removing the effects of external factors such as:

Return on Assets 1

(6.6%)

(0.5%)

3.5%

9.3%

11.1%

Return on Equity 1

(270.3%)

(3.8%)

17.2%

63.1%

73.1%

•

variance between the actual and expected long-term
investment return

Number of employees at end of year 2

214

191

187

164

144

•

changes in inflation and discount rates used in the net claims
liabilities actuarial valuation

Number of full–time equivalent employees at end of year (FTE) 2

205.8

183.0

180.4

158.3

138.1

Gross Premium Written ($ million) 3

439.4

371.8

423.7

130.4

377.4

•

Domestic building insurance portfolio – relating
to a continued increase in multi-unit defect claims

•

impact of the net movement in the unexpired risks liability

Gross Premium Earned ($ million)

417.6

395.0

385.5

365.4

333.8

•

legislative changes and government-directed changes.

1. Return on assets and return on equity are calculated based on the PFIO.					

Liability/Professional Indemnity portfolio – relating to
continued increase in Child Protection Indemnity and the
activity associated with Royal Commissions as well as a
large one-off liability claim

For 2019–20, the PFIO result was a loss of $180.1 million against
an expected surplus of $34.4 million, driven primarily by the
claims experience over the past year.

•

•
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2. All figures reflect employees paid in the last full pay period of June each year. Excluded are those on leave without pay, secondees, external contractors/consultants and temporary staff employed by
employment agencies.					
3. Until 30 June 2016 the majority of VMIA’s insurance policies with its clients incepted at 4.00pm on 30 June each year and accordingly the majority of such gross premium written was written prior to
2017 financial year. With effect from 1 July 2017 these insurance policies incepted just past midnight on 1 July 2017 and accordingly the majority of such gross premium written is written in the 2018
financial year.					

Property portfolio – relating primarily to a number
of catastrophic event claims including the Gippsland
bushfire event.
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Financial
report
The Victorian Managed Insurance Authority (VMIA) presents its audited
general purpose financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June
2020 and provides users with the information about VMIA’s stewardship
of resources entrusted to it. It is presented in the following structure:

Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial
Statements

Comprehensive Operating Statement
Balance Sheet
Statement of Changes in Equity
Cash Flow Statement
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Financial
statements
Comprehensive Operating Statement

Balance Sheet

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Gross premium earned
Reinsurance premium incurred
Increase in unexpired risks liability

As at 30 June 2020
Note

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

2.1, 2.7

417,628

395,048

ASSETS

2.7

(52,459)

(57,020)

Financial assets

2.8(b)

(71,607)

(73,899)

293,562

264,129

Net premium earned
Gross claims incurred

2.2, 2.3(b)

(756,820)

(566,774)

Reinsurance and other recoveries

2.2, 2.3(b)

92,572

29,890

2.2

(664,248)

(536,884)

(9,684)

(9,271)

Net claims incurred
Commission incurred
Other income
Administration expenses

5.1

Underwriting result

2,065

2,024

(45,951)

(43,642)

(424,256)

(323,644)

42,261

224,346

Investment management expenses

(7,196)

(8,345)

Net investment income

35,065

216,001

Net result

(389,191)

(107,643)

Comprehensive result

(389,191)

(107,643)

Investment income

3.1

VMIA has no other comprehensive income to report for the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil).
The Comprehensive Operating Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Notes to the Financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables

Note

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

3.2

26,334

32,715

2.10

3,192

1,529

3,964

62

3.3(c)

2,612,588

2,550,418

2,646,078

2,584,724

926

1,176

7,220

16,104

Non-trade receivables
Investments
Total financial assets
Non-financial assets
Prepaid expenses
Trade receivables

2.10

Non-trade receivables

997

655

Furniture, fittings, equipment and motor vehicles

828

1,639

Intangibles

2,835

1,066

4.1

12,961

–

2.8(a), 2.9

–

–

2.7

48,742

42,729

2.3(b) , 2.3(c)

100,194

28,302

174,703

91,671

2,820,781

2,676,395

2.11

13,743

39,224

Non-trade payables

6.1

17,249

12,405

Derivative liabilities

3.3(c)

22,494

11,244

5,444

4,515

–

1,560

Right-of-use assets
Deferred acquisition costs
Unearned reinsurance
Reinsurance and other recovery assets
Total non-financial assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Trade payables

Provisions
Lease incentive liability
Lease liability

4.2

13,741

–

Unearned premium

2.7

250,124

228,312

2.8(b)

216,023

144,416

Unexpired risks
Gross claims liabilities

2,543,178

2,106,743

Total liabilities

2.3(a), 2.3(b)

3,081,996

2,548,419

Net assets

(261,215)

127,976

13,871

13,871

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

(275,086)

114,105

Total equity

(261,215)

127,976

EQUITY
Contributed capital

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Notes to the Financial statements.
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Financial
statements (continued)
Statement of Changes in Equity

Cash Flow Statement

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020
Contributed
capital
$’000

Accumulated
surplus /(deficit)
$’000

Total
$’000

13,871

629,748

643,619

Comprehensive result for the year

–

(107,643)

(107,643)

Other income

Dividend paid

–

(408,000)

(408,000)

Reinsurance premium paid

13,871

114,105

127,976

–

(389,191)

(389,191)

Note
Balance at 30 June 2018

Balance at 30 June 2019

7.1

Comprehensive result for the year
Dividend paid
Balance at 30 June 2020

7.1

–

–

–

13,871

(275,086)

(261,215)

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Notes to the Financial statements.

Note

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

530,482

473,367

Cash flows from operating activities
Insurance premium received

Gross claims paid

2,271

2,226

(58,472)

(54,928)

(372,546)

(315,918)

Reinsurance and other recoveries received

24,377

16,092

Reimbursement of claims paid on behalf of others

29,260

41,393

Gross commission paid

(8,479)

(7,402)

Payments to employees and suppliers for services and goods
Dividends, distributions and other investment income received

3.1

Interest received

3.1

Goods and Services Taxation paid
Stamp duty paid
Net cash inflow from operating activities

3.2(a)

(69,198)

(65,775)

153,911

177,816

5,367

8,830

(27,227)

(26,096)

(42,430)

(40,624)

167,316

208,980

(133)

(232)

166

209

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of furniture, fittings, equipment and motor vehicles
Proceeds on disposal of furniture, fittings, equipment and motor vehicles
Acquisition of intangibles

(2,538)

–

(3,294,214)

(2,228,320)

Proceeds on disposal of investments

3,123,340

2,439,834

Net cash outflow from investing activities

(173,380)

211,491

Acquisition of investments

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividend paid

–

(408,000)

Lease payments (principal component)

(318)

–

Cash outflow from financing activities

(318)

(408,000)

(6,381)

12,470

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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32,715

20,245

26,334

32,715
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1. About this Report

2. Results from insurance operations

VMIA provides risk advice and insurance services for the Victorian
Government. VMIA works with its clients to improve the quality of life for
the Victorian community. VMIA is dedicated to help the public sector build a
confident, resilient Victoria through world-leading harm prevention and recovery.

Introduction to this section

This section contains the following disclosure

VMIA provides risk advice and insurance services for
the Victorian Government. VMIA works with its clients to
improve the quality of life for the Victorian community.
VMIA is dedicated to help the public sector build a confident,
resilient Victoria through world-leading harm prevention and
recovery. This section provides details of the premium received
and expenditure incurred by VMIA in delivering its services to
the Victorian Government.

2.1

Gross premium earned

2.2

Net claims incurred

2.3

Claim liabilities

2.4

Critical actuarial judgements,
assumptions and estimates

2.5

Reinsurance program

2.6

Insurance contracts – risk management
policies and procedures

2.7

Net unearned premium liability

2.8

Unexpired risks liability

2.9

Deferred acquisition costs

2.10

Trade receivables

2.11

Trade payables

The financial report covers VMIA as an individual reporting
entity. VMIA is a Public Financial Corporation, established
on 1 October 1996 by the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority
Act 1996 to provide insourced risk management and multi-line
insurance services to its clients across the State of Victoria.
The Order in Council gazetted on 14 May 2015 declared VMIA
as a reorganising body under section 7 of the State Owned
Enterprises Act 1992.
VMIA’s principal address is Level 10, 161 Collins Street,
Melbourne, Victoria, 3000.

1.1 Basis of preparation
The financial report has been prepared on an accrual basis,
and is based on historical costs and does not take into account
changing money values, except for outstanding claims liabilities,
recoveries receivable, employee benefits liabilities and leasehold
restoration provision which are included at present value, and
investments and property, plant and equipment which are
included at fair value. Historical cost is based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for assets.
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which
ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the
concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that
the substance of the underlying transactions and financial
consequences of events are reported. The accounting policies
have been applied in preparing the financial report for the year
ended 30 June 2020 and the comparative information presented
for the year ended 30 June 2019.
The functional and presentation currency of VMIA is the
Australian dollar. Amounts are rounded and expressed to
the nearest thousand dollars in accordance with Ministerial
Directions under the Financial Management Act 1994.

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis.
While VMIA recorded negative net assets as at 30 June 2020
of $261 million (2019: positive $128 million) and a net loss
at 30 June 2020 of $389 million (2019: loss of $108 million),
it delivered positive cash flows from operating activities of
$167 million (2019: $209 million). Based on the cash flow
projections being positive 12 months to the signing of the financial
statements, the Directors have concluded that the going concern
assumption of the VMIA remains appropriate. VMIA also has a
statutory guarantee with the State of Victoria, refer Note 7.1, it is
not anticipated that this will be needed to be called upon.

1.2 Statement of compliance
The financial report is a general purpose financial report prepared
on an accrual basis in accordance with the Financial Management
Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards, which
include Interpretations, and other mandatory professional
requirements.
For the purposes of compliance with the accounting
standards, the Assistant Treasurer has determined that VMIA
is a not-for-profit entity. Australian Accounting Standards include
requirements that apply specifically to not-for-profit entities that
are not consistent with the International Financial Reporting
Standards requirements. Consequently, where appropriate, VMIA
applies those paragraphs in Australian Accounting Standards
applicable to not-for-profit entities. The financial report also
complies with relevant Financial Reporting Directions approved
by the Assistant Treasurer.
The financial report was authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 28 August 2020.

VMIA is exempt from federal income taxation under section
24AM of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936. VMIA is liable
to pay Fringe Benefits Taxation (FBT) and Goods and Services
Taxation (GST). Revenue and expenses are brought to account
exclusive of GST. Receivables and payables are stated inclusive
of GST. The amounts of GST recoverable from or payable to the
Australian Taxation Office are included as part of non – trade
receivables and non – trade payables. Cash flows which include
GST are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis in
accordance with AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows.
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VMIA’s business is very diverse with six main lines of business
classifications being Domestic Building Insurance, Dust Diseases
and Workers’ Compensation, Liability, Medical Indemnity,
Property and Other activities.

Domestic Building Insurance
This line of business provides cover to homeowners for
incomplete or defective building work. VMIA commenced
writing domestic building insurance on 31 May 2010.

Dust Diseases and Workers’ Compensation
This line of business covers pre 1985 workers’ compensation
and public liability claims against the former State Electricity
Commission of Victoria and some other State Government
entities. The portfolio is in run-off. The last Dust Diseases
and Workers’ Compensation insurance contract expired on
31 January 1995.

Medical Indemnity
This line of business covers all public hospitals in Victoria and
many other healthcare providers in the event of an adverse
healthcare incident.

Property
This line of business provides cover for any physical loss or
damage to any government departments that own or assume
responsibility for buildings, contents, watercraft, plant and
machinery.

Other
This includes other lines of business such as travel,
motor vehicle and personal accident.

Liability
These lines of business provide a range of general insurance
(including Public and Products Liability; Professional Indemnity;
and Directors and Officers Liability to government departments,
participating bodies and non-government entities as directed by
the Assistant Treasurer.
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2. Results from insurance operations (continued)
2.1 Gross premium earned

2.3 Claim liabilities
(a) Gross claims liabilities
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Domestic Building Insurance

62,970

65,689

Discount to present value

Liability

46,664

38,595

Discounted value of central estimate

191,391

179,335

Property

55,886

55,158

Risk margin

Other

60,717

56,271

Total gross claims liabilities

417,628

395,048

Note
Gross premium earned

Undiscounted central estimate

Medical Indemnity

Total gross premium earned

Premium includes amounts charged to policyholders but excludes Stamp Duty and Goods and Services Taxation.
Premium is recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement when it has been earned. Premium is treated as
earned from the date of attachment of risk and recognised over the policy period, which has been judged as closely
approximating the pattern of risk.

Current
year
$’000

2019

Prior
years
$’000

Total
$’000

Current
year
$’000

Total
$’000

Undiscounted

670,387

36,558

706,945

472,938

(2,668)

470,270

Discount movement

(14,088)

57,361

43,273

(24,204)

113,075

88,871

6,602

–

6,602

7,633

–

7,633

662,901

93,919

756,820

456,367

110,407

566,774

(62,818)

(29,665)

(92,483)

(9,109)

(36,383)

(45,492)

480

(569)

(89)

186

15,416

15,602

(62,338)

(30,234)

(92,572)

(8,923)

(20,967)

(29,890)

Unallocated claims expenses

Reinsurance and other recoveries
Discount movement

(111,932)

2,030,451

1,657,211

63,993

63,293

448,734

386,239

2,543,178

2,106,743

540,978

358,174

Non-current

2,002,200

1,748,569

Total gross claims liabilities

2,543,178

2,106,743

(b) Reconciliation of movement in discounted claims liabilities
2020

Claims liabilities at beginning of year

600,563

63,685

664,248

447,444

89,440

536,884

Gross
$’000

Reinsurance
and other
recoveries
$’000

Net
$’000

Gross
$’000

Reinsurance
and other
recoveries
$’000

Net
$’000

2,106,743

(28,302)

2,078,441

1,819,697

(24,444)

1,795,253

15,498

(174)

15,324

80,334

(702)

79,632

Effect of changes in other assumptions

55,483

(29,893)

25,590

(11,577)

(19,915)

(31,492)

Effect of claims moving one year closer to settlement

22,938

(167)

22,771

41,649

(350)

41,299

662,901

(62,338)

600,563

456,368

(8,923)

447,445

Claims incurred charged/(credited) to income
Net claim payments during the year

Current year claims relate to claims incurred for the most recent policy year. Prior year claims relate to a reassessment of the claims
assumptions (e.g. changes in economic assumptions and claims experience) made in all previous policy years and include the effects
of discounting caused by the natural reduction in discount, as the claims move one year closer to settlement. Recoveries on claims
paid and outstanding claims are recognised as revenue.

2019

Effect of changes in economic assumptions

Claims incurred for most recent policy year
Total net claims incurred

1,769,143

(68,660)

Refer to Note 2.4 (b) for the calculation of claims liabilities and actuarial assumptions pertaining to components of claims liabilities for
each line of business.

Prior
years
$’000

Gross claims incurred

Total reinsurance and other recoveries

2,099,111

Since the claims liabilities are based on estimates, the ultimate settlement of claims and the related expenses may vary from the
independent actuarial valuation.
2020

Undiscounted

Current

2019
$’000

The gross claims liabilities, which are assessed and valued by VMIA’s independent external actuary, comprise: (i) claims reported but not
yet paid; (ii) claims incurred but not reported and claims incurred but not enough reported; (iii) the anticipated claims handling expenses
of settling those claims; and (iv) a risk margin.

2.2 Net claims incurred

Total gross claims incurred

Claims handling expenses

2020
$’000

Claims liabilities at end of year

756,820

(92,572)

664,248

566,774

(29,890)

536,884

(320,385)

20,680

(299,705)

(279,728)

26,032

(253,696)

2,543,178

(100,194)

2,442,984

2,106,743

(28,302)

2,078,441

Indirect claims handling expenses included in administration expenses are referred to as unallocated claims expenses and are
reallocated from administration expenses to net claims incurred.
Refer to Note 2.4(c) for details pertaining to actuarial assumptions.
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2. Results from insurance operations (continued)
2.3 Claim liabilities (continued)

2.3 Claim liabilities (continued)

(c) Reinsurance and other recovery assets

(d) Net claims development tables
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Reinsurance recoveries in respect of claims liabilities

81,798

16,088

Other recoveries in respect of claims liabilities (undiscounted)

19,367

13,274

(971)

(1,060)

100,194

28,302

Discount to present value
Total reinsurance and other recovery assets
Current

34,417

13,684

Non-current

65,777

14,618

100,194

28,302

Total reinsurance and other recovery assets

The following tables show the development of net undiscounted claims liabilities relative to the ultimate expected cost of claims
for the 10 most recent policy years. As all claims for the Dust Diseases and Workers’ Compensation portfolio were incurred prior
to these policy years, a modified table has been disclosed for that portfolio.
2011
$’000

2012
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2016
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2019
$’000

2020
$’000

Original estimate of ultimate net
claims incurred at end of policy year

31,679

28,783

33,730

41,282

45,577

52,563

64,226

53,697

59,672

68,987

One year later

31,323

34,447

35,473

36,167

39,879

69,285

59,381

51,686

69,962

73,239

Domestic Building Insurance

Two years later

36,046

37,103

37,266

35,247

44,170

70,792

72,897

Three years later

40,612

36,635

35,545

37,184

49,033

84,479

100,920

99,962

Four years later

44,142

38,341

36,246

40,135

51,207

Five years later

49,313

39,283

37,034

38,595

55,277

39,836

The reinsurance and other recovery assets are assessed and valued by VMIA’s independent external actuary and comprise reinsurance
and other recovery assets in respect of claims reported but not yet paid, claims incurred but not reported and claims incurred but not
enough reported.

Six years later

52,122

39,007

35,393

Seven years later

51,802

36,573

36,200

Eight years later

50,048

35,419

Refer to Note 2.4 for the calculation and actuarial assumptions pertaining to components of claims liabilities for each line of business.

Nine years later

49,211

Current estimate of ultimate net
claims incurred

49,211

35,419

36,200

39,836

55,277

99,962

100,920

73,239

69,962

Cumulative payments

(46,489)

(33,106)

(30,335)

(26,804)

(29,350)

(60,606)

(51,695)

(22,983)

(12,089)

Net claims liabilities –
undiscounted

2,722

2,313

5,865

13,032

25,927

39,356

49,226

50,256

57,873

Unearned liabilities

(1,060) (314,516)
67,926

314,496
(165,382)
149,114

Discount to present value

(1,483)

Risk margin
Net claims liabilities at
30 June 2020

Dust Diseases and Workers’ Compensation

6,643
36,257
190,531

Total
$’000

Nine years previous

688,654

Eight years previous

682,802

Seven years previous

648,608

Six years previous

620,617

Five years previous

565,876

Four years previous

533,804

Three years previous

547,545

Two years previous

567,996

One year previous

518,230

Current estimate of ultimate net claims incurred

510,120

Cumulative payments (since 30 June 1999)

(244,509)

Net claims liabilities – undiscounted

265,611

Discount to present value

(37,145)

Claims handling expenses

15,993

Risk margin
Net claims liabilities at 30 June 2020

Victorian Managed I nsurance Authority

629,013

Total net claims liabilities –
undiscounted
Claims handling expenses
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$’000
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2. Results from insurance operations (continued)
2.3 Claim liabilities (continued)

2.3 Claim liabilities (continued)

(d) Net claims development tables (continued)

(d) Net claims development tables (continued)

2011
$’000

2012
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2016
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2019
$’000

2020
$’000

Original estimate of ultimate net claims
incurred at end of policy year

11,304

11,555

14,407

18,286

16,245

24,543

11,824

12,124

11,767

30,112

One year later

11,411

12,042

15,888

17,473

18,494

21,502

9,125

9,466

11,269

Two years later

10,929

11,345

11,497

18,052

14,355

28,009

7,834

8,457

8,549

4,866

9,068

9,658

11,916

27,595

8,642

28,990

Liability

Three years later

Total
$’000

Property

27,110

8,899

40,331

9,447

27,688

27,180

10,270

51,358

14,665

24,311

12,387

Two years later

140,569

43,829

4,913

14,151

24,275

10,283

48,066

Three years later

130,050

37,075

5,521

13,873

24,290

9,675

43,296

9,671

9,754
10,084

Six years later

6,170

2,707

7,373

9,623

Seven years later

6,495

2,450

6,815

Eight years later

6,418

2,386

Nine years later

6,428

Current estimate of ultimate net claims
incurred

6,428

2,386

6,815

9,623

10,084

28,990

8,642

8,457

11,269

30,112

122,808

Current estimate of ultimate net claims
incurred

(6,126)

(2,298)

(6,508)

(7,423)

(6,613)

(15,061)

(3,000)

(2,154)

(858)

(1,230)

(51,272)

Cumulative payments

302

88

307

2,200

3,471

13,929

5,643

6,303

10,411

28,882

71,536

Four years later

117,495

30,386

5,154

13,837

24,075

Five years later

118,683

30,177

5,154

13,822

24,054

Six years later

125,627

30,177

5,154

13,822

Seven years later

125,627

30,177

5,154

Eight years later

125,627

30,177

Nine years later

125,609

Net claims liabilities – undiscounted

Discount to present value

3,723

Claims handling expenses

23,668

Risk margin

Net claims liabilities at 30 June 2020

98,390

Net claims liabilities at 30 June 2020

186,932

197,860

200,994

211,101

194,564

194,232

189,902

195,181

214,474

One year later

182,807

170,682

192,272

177,767

178,022

176,145

191,175

203,207

212,998

206,332

Two years later

166,419

163,285

167,130

165,566

145,890

160,011

200,175

Three years later

144,376

146,747

149,957

149,170

129,310

147,412

194,972

142,970

Four years later

140,505

112,781

133,266

152,188

143,737

Five years later

124,256

99,880

125,426

172,056

145,176

Six years later

169,079

107,183

85,827

117,084

Seven years later

98,151

82,524

120,603

Eight years later

105,392

100,812

Nine years later

96,502

Current estimate of ultimate net claims
incurred

96,502

100,812

120,603

169,079

145,176

142,970

194,972

206,332

212,998

(81,613)

(62,789)

(82,460)

(84,409)

(56,545)

(18,879)

(19,110)

(5,937)

(1,711)

14,889

38,024

38,143

84,670

88,631

124,091

175,861

200,395

211,287

Total net claims liabilities – undiscounted

30,177

5,154

13,822

24,054

9,671

43,296

12,387

24,311

109,131

397,611

(30,177)

(5,154)

(13,822)

(24,044)

(9,661)

(31,813)

(8,254)

(16,516)

(5,747)

(270,796)

–

–

–

–

10

10

11,483

4,133

7,794

103,384

126,815
(554)
126,261
(412)
7,014
23,313
156,177

Other

Original estimate of ultimate net claims
incurred at end of policy year

2010 and prior years

125,609

Total net claims liabilities – undiscounted

(730)

Total
$’000

(125,609)

2010 and prior years

Risk margin

Net claims liabilities – undiscounted

109,131

19,505

8,889

Cumulative payments

2020
$’000

13,105

8,470

Medical Indemnity

2019
$’000

9,820

6,319

Claims handling expenses

2018
$’000

10,768

7,133

Discount to present value

2017
$’000

31,591

3,819

193

2016
$’000

45,686

3,072

71,729

2015
$’000

119,894

6,023

Total net claims liabilities – undiscounted

2014
$’000

145,466

5,862

2010 and prior years

2013
$’000

One year later

Four years later

Net claims liabilities – undiscounted

2012
$’000

Original estimate of ultimate net claims
incurred at end of policy year

Five years later

Cumulative payments

2011
$’000

231,067

231,067 1,620,511
(251)

(413,704)

230,816 1,206,807
52,995
1,259,801

Original estimate of ultimate net claims
incurred at end of policy year

23,899

11,162

13,400

7,866

13,293

16,318

26,422

27,797

64,082

One year later

18,732

15,117

9,583

9,762

9,937

18,330

24,797

30,127

55,360

25,532

Two years later

18,920

14,324

8,538

9,800

10,652

17,678

23,122

Three years later

18,530

12,809

7,344

10,962

9,998

17,052

22,475

15,934

Four years later

17,953

12,474

7,055

11,488

9,030

Five years later

17,077

12,109

6,989

13,095

9,222

Six years later

17,248

12,102

7,803

15,077

Seven years later

17,361

12,136

6,876

Eight years later

17,154

13,299

Nine years later

17,100

Current estimate of ultimate net claims
incurred
Cumulative payments
Net claims liabilities – undiscounted
2010 and prior years
Total net claims liabilities – undiscounted

65,493

17,100

13,299

6,876

15,077

9,222

15,934

22,475

25,532

55,360

65,493

246,368

(16,460)

(11,803)

(6,514)

(12,124)

(7,424)

(13,120)

(16,199)

(10,422)

(18,985)

(8,040)

(121,091)

640

1,496

362

2,954

1,797

2,814

6,277

15,110

36,375

57,453

125,277
141
125,418

Discount to present value

(27,064)

Discount to present value

(843)

Claims handling expenses

24,781

Claims handling expenses

5,839

Risk margin
Net claims liabilities at 30 June 2020
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2. Results from insurance operations (continued)
2.4 Critical actuarial judgements, assumptions and estimates

2.4 Critical actuarial judgements, assumptions and estimates (continued)

VMIA makes judgements, assumptions and estimates in respect of the liabilities and corresponding assets for claims arising from
insurance and reinsurance contracts issued, which are subject to significant estimation uncertainty. These are regularly evaluated and
are based on historical experience and expectations of future events that are deemed reasonable. Critical estimates and assumptions
for the year ended 30 June 2020 include consideration of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The following table summarises the main assumptions used by the independent actuary in estimating the net claims liabilities.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods that are
affected by the revision.

Domestic
Building
Insurance

Dust Diseases
and Workers’
Compensation

Liability

Medical
Indemnity

Property

Other

1.8

2.3

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.8

–

2.0

–

3.5

–

–

Discount rate (% p.a.)

0.4

1.3

0.4

0.6

0.4

0.4

Weighted average term to settlement (years)

3.3

3.9

1.1

2.0

Actuarial assumptions

2020
Inflation rate (% p.a.)

(a) Descriptions of the lines of business and the actuarial process for determining claims liabilities
The claims liabilities are measured at the central estimate of the present value of the expected future payments. The expected future
payments include allowances for economic inflation and superimposed inflation, which reflect trends in court awards and increases in
the level of compensation for injuries.
The expected future payments are then discounted to a present value using a risk-free discount rate. The discount rates are derived
from the market price of Commonwealth Government securities with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated
future claims payments. The effects of any adjustments resulting from the independent actuarial valuation of the gross claims liabilities
are reflected in this financial report and disclosed in Note 2.3.
VMIA uses a variety of actuarial techniques that analyse experience, trends, exposure data, industry data and other relevant factors to
estimate the claims liabilities for each line of business.

Superimposed inflation rate (% p.a.)

3.0

11.3

Non-large claim costs for the latest policy year
($ per 1,000 separations)**

–

–

–

60,900

–

–

Ultimate claims ratio (% for the latest policy year)

–

–

111.4

–

–

–

Ultimate claims ratio for long tail classes (% for Professional
Indemnity and Director and Officers for the latest policy year)

–

–

–

–

–

268.3

Large claim frequency for the latest policy year (% per 1,000
separations)**

–

–

–

1.4

–

–

2.0

–

–

–

–

–

Number of Incurred But Not Reported claims

–

811

–

–

–

–

Average claim size ($ per claim at end of year)

49,400

181,000

–

–

–

–

Claim frequency (% of total certificates)
Domestic Building Insurance
Insurance contracts commence
on the project contract’s start
date and run for six years after the
completion date of the project.
The terms and conditions of these
insurance contracts are reviewed
on an ongoing basis.
Domestic building insurance is a
long tail class of insurance with
premium earned over a period of
eight years from policy inception.

Dust Diseases and
Workers’ Compensation
The portfolio is in run-off. The
last Dust Diseases and Workers’
Compensation insurance contract
expired on 31 January 1995.
Most of these claims are for
asbestos-related diseases and
are very long tail in nature.

Liability, Property and Other

Medical Indemnity

Insurance contracts typically
incept just past midnight on 1 July
and run for 12 months resulting in
almost all premium being received
in the first quarter of the financial
year. The terms and conditions
of these insurance contracts are
established annually in advance
of 1 July.

Insurance contracts typically
incept just past midnight on 1 July
and run for 12 months resulting in
almost all premium being received
in the first quarter of the financial
year. The terms and conditions
of these insurance contracts are
established annually in advance
of 1 July.

The claims liabilities consist of a
combination of short tail property
and long tail liability risks.
Reinsurance recoveries, including
for major catastrophic events,
are allowed for based on ceded
outstanding claims for reported
claims and amounts calculated by
VMIA’s independent actuary for
the incurred but not reported and
incurred but not enough reported
components.

The State of Victoria has
provided stop loss reinsurance
protection for policy years
incepting on or after 1 July
2003 that limits VMIA’s liability
for medical indemnity claims
incurred in any one policy
year to a maximum of 120%
(2019: 120%) of the actuarially
estimated undiscounted gross
claims incurred for that policy
year as used in the pricing of the
insurance.
Separate modelling is undertaken
for claims that are classified
as large with the classification
threshold being $1.545 million
at 30 June 2020, up from $1.467
million at 30 June 2019 to better
reflect the emerging experience.
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Average claim size for large claims
($ million per claim at end of year)**
Claims handling expense (CHE) rate (% of claim payments)*
Risk margin (% p.a.)

–

–

–

2.6

–

–

4.5

7.0

4.0

2.0

4.0

4.0

23.5

30.3

31.7

20.0

17.5

30.6

2.3

2.5

2.3

2.3

2.3

2.3

–

2.0

–

3.5

–

–

2019
Inflation rate (% p.a.)
Superimposed inflation rate (% p.a.)
Discount rate (% p.a.)

1.1

1.7

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

Weighted average term to settlement (years)

3.1

11.7

3.1

4.0

1.0

2.6

Non-large claim costs for the latest policy year
($ per 1,000 separations)**

–

–

–

54,600

–

–

Ultimate claims ratio (% for the latest policy year)

–

–

38.1

–

–

–

Ultimate claims ratio for long tail classes (% for Professional
Indemnity and Director and Officers for the latest policy year)

–

–

–

–

–

412.6

Large claim frequency for the latest policy year (% per 1,000
separations)**
Claim frequency (% of total certificates)

–

–

–

1.4

–

–

1.8

–

–

–

–

–

Number of Incurred But Not Reported claims

–

872

–

–

–

–

Average claim size ($ per claim at end of year)

47,200

174,000

–

–

–

–

Average claim size for large claims
($ million per claim at end of year)**
Claims handling expense (CHE) rate (% of claim payments)*
Risk margin (% p.a.)

–

–

–

2.6

–

–

5.0

7.0

6.5

2.5

6.5

6.2

23.5

30.7

31.7

20.0

17.5

30.9

(*) Liability, Property and Other CHE rate for working claims =4.0% (2019: 6.5%) and Property Catastrophe claims = 4.0% (2019: 0.8%).
(**) The threshold for a large claim has changed from $1.467 million (2019) to $1.545 million (2020).
If a field is left blank in the above table it is not applicable, not separately estimated or does not have a material impact on the valuation of the respective line of business.
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2. Results from insurance operations (continued)
2.4 Critical actuarial judgements, assumptions and estimates (continued)

2.4 Critical actuarial judgements, assumptions and estimates (continued)

(b) Process used to determine assumptions

The tables below describe how a change in each assumption will impact on equity and the comprehensive result.

(i) Dust Diseases and Workers’ Compensation
The number of incurred but not reported claims represents the expected number of asbestos claims that will ultimately be reported
after the Balance Sheet date. Although the injuries are considered to already have occurred, asbestos-related diseases may take
decades to present and hence be reported to VMIA.
(ii) Medical Indemnity
The large claim frequency as a proportion of separations (per 1,000) is calculated with reference to past experience of large claims and
an understanding of the claims management philosophy.
(iii) All VMIA lines of business
•

The inflation rate is set following consideration of the duration of the claims liabilities and with reference to both economic
forecasts and historical experience for wage inflation. Short-term wage inflation rates are set following consideration of a range of
economic forecasts, while medium to long-term wage inflation rates are set based on consideration of both economic forecasts and
historical average rates of wage inflation.

Variable

Impact of movement in variable on the comprehensive result

Inflation and superimposed
inflation rates

Expected future claim payments are increased to take account of the impact of inflation. Such increases
include economic and superimposed inflation. Superimposed inflation assumptions are specific to the
individual actuarial models adopted. An increase in an inflation assumption would increase net claims incurred.

Discount rate

Claims liabilities are calculated with reference to expected future claim payments. These claim payments are
discounted to take into account the time value of money. An increase in the assumed discount rate would
decrease net claims incurred.

Ultimate claims ratio for long tail
classes

Ultimate claims ratio for long tail classes is ultimate net claims incurred divided by gross ultimate premium.
An increase in the ultimate claims ratio for long tail classes would increase net claims incurred.

Claim frequency (both large and
small)

Claim frequency is calculated based on past experience. An increase in the frequency of claims would increase
net claims incurred.

•

The superimposed inflation rates are set with reference to the superimposed inflation indicators present in the portfolio data and
industry trends.

Number of Incurred But Not
Reported (IBNR) claims

•

The discount rate is calculated as the weighted average of the interest rates on Commonwealth Government securities with terms
to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The number of IBNR claims is calculated based on past experience of claim notification patterns and
information on the changes in the profile of risk over time. An increase in the estimate of the number of IBNR
claims would increase net claims incurred.

Average claim size

•

The weighted average discounted term to settlement is calculated separately for each class of business based on historical
settlement patterns and is measured from the Balance Sheet date.

Estimated average claim size is based primarily on historical experience. An increase in the estimated average
claim size would increase net claims incurred.

•

The claims handling expense rates are calculated with reference to past experience of claims handling expenses as a percentage of
gross claims payments.

Claims handling expense (CHE) rate

•

The risk margins are estimated separately for each broad class of business taking into account both the historic volatility of each
class, and internal and external risk factors that may impact the ultimate claims cost for each class.

Claims liabilities include the professional and administration costs that are directly associated with individual
claims pertaining to the future management and settlement of these claims. This is calculated as a percentage
of the gross claim payments based on past experience. An increase in the CHE rate would increase gross
claims incurred.

Risk margin

The risk margin is applied to the net central estimate of the claims liabilities to achieve a 75% (2019: 75%)
probability that the claims liabilities will be sufficient. To estimate the risk margin, the independent actuary
considers the uncertainty associated with the actuarial models and assumptions, the quality of the data used,
and the insurance and economic environments. Risk margins are set for each major insurance line of business
and include a 25% (2019: 25%) allowance for diversification between insurance lines of business. The risk
margins utilised also take into account the effect of the stop loss reinsurance protection pertaining to the
medical indemnity claims liabilities. An increase in the risk margin would increase net claims incurred.

(c) Sensitivity analysis – insurance contracts
The independent actuary has conducted sensitivity analysis to quantify the impact of movements in key underlying variables on the
claims liabilities at the Balance Sheet date. As VMIA is not subject to income taxation the impact, net of recoveries, on equity is the same
as the impact on the comprehensive result for the financial year.
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2. Results from insurance operations (continued)
2.4 Critical actuarial judgements, assumptions and estimates (continued)

2.5 Reinsurance program

Financial impact, net of recoveries, of changes in assumptions on the comprehensive result for the current year based on actuarial
assumptions in Note 2.4(a)

VMIA provides insurance to State Government departments,
participating bodies and other entities as defined under the
Victorian Managed Insurance Authority Act 1996. VMIA has a policy
of purchasing reinsurance to limit financial exposure to the State,
as follows:

Sensitivity
%

Domestic
Building
Insurance
$’000

Dust Diseases
and Workers’
Compensation
$’000

Liability
$’000

Medical
Indemnity
$’000

Property
$’000

Other
$’000

+0.25

1,242

8,711

711

14,196

362

808

–0.25

(1,140)

(8,375)

(705)

(14,026)

(362)

(803)

+0.25

–

7,642

–

14,196

–

–

–0.25

–

(7,344)

–

(14,026)

–

–

+0.25

(1,140)

(8,615)

(716)

(14,641)

(366)

(812)

–0.25

1,242

9,013

726

14,901

368

821

Non-large claims costs for the latest policy year
($ per 1,000 certificates)

+10.0

–

–

–

4,995

–

–

–10.0

–

–

–

(18,998)

–

–

Ultimate claims ratio (% for the latest policy year)

+20.0

–

–

7,249

–

–

–

–20.0

–

–

(7,249)

–

–

–

Ultimate claims ratio for long tail classes
(% for Professional Indemnity and Directors and
Officers for the latest policy year)

+20.0

–

–

–

–

–

1,965

–20.0

–

–

–

–

–

(1,965)

Large claim frequency for the latest policy year
(% per 1,000 separations)

+0.2

–

–

–

(16,907)

–

–

–0.2

–

–

–

(16,907)

–

–

Claim frequency (% of total certificates)

+0.1

9,452

–

–

–

–

–

–0.1

(9,452)

–

–

–

–

–

Number of incurred but not reported (IBNR)
claims

+10.0

–

30,329

–

–

–

–

–10.0

–

(30,329)

–

–

–

–

Average claim size ($ per claim at end of year)

+10.0

19,053

30,329

–

–

–

–

–10.0

(19,053)

(30,329)

–

–

–

–

Average claim size for large claims ($ million per
claim at end of year)

+5.0

–

–

–

(20,243)

–

–

–5.0

–

–

–

(20,243)

–

–

Claims handling expense (CHE) rate (% of claim
payments)

+1.0

1,823

2,976

1,226

12,638

2,061

1,434

–1.0

(1,823)

(2,976)

(1,226)

(12,638)

(2,061)

(1,434)

Risk margin (% p.a.)

+1.0

1,543

2,445

747

12,575

1,329

1,304

–1.0

(1,543)

(2,445)

(747)

(12,575)

(1,329)

(1,304)

Variable

Inflation rate (% p.a.)

Superimposed inflation rate (% p.a.)

Discount rate (% p.a.)

•

Property – $3.575 billion (2019: $3.575 billion) in excess of
the State $50 million (2019: $50 million) retention, any one
event, including the government Rail Insurance Program.

•

Combined Liability – $950 million (2019: $950 million) in
excess of the State $50 million (2019: $50 million) retention,
any one occurrence for public liability, and in the annual
aggregate separately for Product Liability and Bushfire
Liability, and $400 million (2019: $400 million) in excess
of the State $50 million (2019: $50 million) for any one
occurrence in the annual aggregate for economic loss.

•

Government Rail Insurance Program – Public and Product
Liability – $999.9 million (2019: $999.9 million) in excess
of the State $100,000 (2019: $100,000) retention, any one
occurrence.

•

Principal Controlled Construction Risks – Material Damage –
$497.5 million (2019: $497.5 million) for property damage in
excess of the State $2.5 million (2019: $2.5 million) retention,
any one contract.

•

Principal Controlled Construction Risks – Public Liability –
$495 million (2019: $495 million) in excess of the State
$5 million (2019: $5 million) retention, any one occurrence.

•

Terrorism – $1.49 billion (2019: $1.49 billion) in excess of
the State $10 million (2019: $10 million) retention, any one
event and in the annual aggregate for Property, with a further
sub-limit of $500 million (2019: $490 million), any one event
and in the annual aggregate for Public Liability.

In addition, to protect against the potential for a series of insured
losses incurred in any one year under VMIA’s Property, and Public
and Product Liability policies, VMIA has purchased Aggregate
Stop Loss reinsurance of $60 million (2019: $60 million) in the
aggregate subject to VMIA retaining the first $20 million (2019:
$20 million) of each loss as well as the first $30 million (2019: $30
million) of losses in the aggregate.

2.6 Insurance contracts — risk management
policies and procedures
The financial condition and operation of VMIA is affected by a
number of key risks including insurance, financial and operational
risk. VMIA’s policies and procedures in respect of managing
insurance risks are set out below.
(a) Objectives in managing risks arising from insurance
contracts and policies mitigating these risks
VMIA’s purpose is to minimise the impact on the State and its
clients of the exposure to loss from adverse events through the
provision of risk management and insurance services. VMIA
does this in part by accepting the transfer of all or part of such
exposures by way of insurance contracts protected by appropriate
reinsurance arrangements. Insurance claims experience is
inherently uncertain, which can lead to significant variability in
losses experienced. VMIA maintains Prudential Insurance Policies
that encompass all aspects of VMIA’s operations including the
reinsurance risk retentions and limits. These policies set out
VMIA’s processes and controls in respect of the management of
both financial and non-financial insurance risks likely to be faced
by VMIA.
Key aspects of the processes established to mitigate risks include:
•

The maintenance and use of detailed risk exposure surveys
and collection of management information from insured
entities which provide reliable data on the risks to which
VMIA is exposed.

•

Actuarial models that use claims information derived from
the claims experience of VMIA with consideration of industry
experience.

•

Documented procedures which are followed for
underwriting and pricing risk.

•

Exposures to natural disasters are modelled and the State’s
accumulated risks are mainly protected by arranging
reinsurance to limit the losses arising from catastrophe
events. The retention limits as set out in Note 2.5 are
approved by VMIA’s Board of Directors.

•

Financial exposure to the long tail medical indemnity class
of insurance has been mitigated by the stop loss reinsurance
protection provided by the State. The purpose of this
arrangement is to minimise any capital strain that might arise
from future deterioration of the claims experience [refer to
Note 2.4(a)].

•

Only reinsurers with credit ratings equal to or in excess
of the minimum rating specified in VMIA’s Reinsurance
Management Strategy are accepted as participants in VMIA’s
reinsurance program.

If a field is left blank in the above table it is not applicable, not separately estimated or does not have a material impact on the valuation of the respective line of business.

The investment Strategic Asset Allocation, as determined by
the Victorian Funds Management Corporation, to meet VMIA’s
Investment Objective is approved by the Board of Directors to
optimise the investment return within acceptable risk parameters.
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2. Results from insurance operations (continued)
2.6 Insurance contracts — risk management policies and procedures (continued)

2.8 Unexpired risks liability

(b) Insurance risks

At Balance Sheet date the VMIA’s independent actuary performs a Liability Adequacy Test (LAT) to assess the adequacy of the carrying
amount of the net unearned premium to settle future claim payments in respect of the relevant insurance contracts. The LAT is carried
out in respect of each of the Domestic Building Insurance, Liability, Medical Indemnity, Property and Other portfolios, with each line
of business’ risks being managed together as a single portfolio. The Dust Diseases and Workers’ Compensation portfolio is in run-off,
therefore no LAT assessment is required.

Concentration of insurance risk

Interest rate risk

Credit risk

The portfolio contains some diversity, but is
geographically concentrated in Victoria, and
as such is exposed to the potentially material
catastrophes of the State. Aggregate risk is
modelled annually using a combination of
data sorted by geospatial positioning and/or
postcode reference using available catastrophe
models. The catastrophe excess of loss
reinsurance program is reviewed on an annual
basis.

The assets and liabilities arising from insurance
or reinsurance contracts entered into are
directly exposed to interest rate risk. Changes
in interest rates affect the valuation of VMIA’s
insurance and reinsurance assets and liabilities.

The assets and liabilities arising from insurance
and reinsurance contracts are stated in the
Balance Sheet at fair value. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

If the present value of the expected future claim payments including an allowance for claims handling and policy administration
expenses, plus an additional risk margin to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the central estimates [refer to Note 2.4], exceeds the
unearned premium liability and any other future premium cash flows less related deferred acquisition costs, then the unearned
premium liability is deemed to be deficient.
The deficiency is recognised immediately in the Comprehensive Operating Statement. The deficiency is recognised first by writing
down any related deferred acquisition costs, with any excess being recorded in the Balance Sheet as an unexpired risks liability.
Refer to Note 2.4 for the actuarial assumptions pertaining to discount rates and risk margins for each line of business.

VMIA provides medical indemnity insurance
for all public hospitals in Victoria and many
other healthcare providers. VMIA is therefore
exposed to the consequences of any event
which increases the cost of such cover. The
stop loss reinsurance protection provided by
the State to VMIA limits the potential ultimate
cost for any one policy year in respect of such
events.

(a) Calculation of premium deficiencies
The table below shows the calculation of premium deficiency by line of business.
Domestic
Building
Insurance
$’000

Net unearned premium liability

2.7 Net unearned premium liability
2020

Property
$’000

Other
$’000

Total
$’000

503,554
(590,488)

(54,832)

(8,933)

(12,329)

(129,089)

–

–

–

–

(22,557)

Gross premium (deficiency)/surplus

(91,509)

(8,818)

(113,654)

(12,212)

(12,388)

(238,580)

22,557

–

–

–

–

22,557

(68,952)

(8,818)

(113,654)

(12,212)

(12,388)

(216,023)

–

–

–

–

–

–

Net premium deficiency

Net

Gross

Reinsurance

Net

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Unearned premium liability/(asset) at beginning of year

228,312

(42,729)

185,583

251,527

(44,821)

206,706

Net unearned premium liability

Premium written

439,440

(58,472)

380,967

371,833

(54,928)

316,905

Net present value of future policy costs

52,459 (365,169)

(395,048)

57,020

(338,028)

228,312

(42,729)

185,583

201,381

48,747
(48,806)

(12,919)

$’000

(48,742)

48,658
(51,936)

(40,075)

Reinsurance

250,124

218,489
(277,311)

(22,557)

$’000

(417,628)

46,015
(41,914)

Risk margin

Deferred acquisition costs written down

2019

141,645
(170,521)

Gross deferred acquisition costs recognised

Gross

Unearned premium liability/(asset) at end of year

Medical
Indemnity
$’000

2020
Net present value of future policy costs

Premium (earned)/incurred

Liability
$’000

Deferred acquisition costs recognised in Balance Sheet (i)
2019

140,354

39,535

184,232

38,128

46,946

449,195

(137,445)

(40,549)

(224,001)

(36,046)

(46,368)

(484,408)
(109,203)

Risk margin

(32,302)

(12,544)

(44,268)

(6,177)

(13,911)

Gross deferred acquisition costs recognised

(26,855)

–

–

–

–

(26,855)

Gross premium (deficiency)/surplus

(56,248)

(13,558)

(84,037)

(4,095)

(13,333)

(171,271)

26,855
(29,393)

–
(13,558)

–
(84,037)

–
(4,095)

–
(13,333)

26,855
(144,416)

–

–

–

–

–

–

Current

108,726

(17,111)

91,615

82,157

(13,377)

68,780

Non-current

141,398

(31,631)

109,767

146,155

(29,352)

116,803

Deferred acquisition costs written down
Net premium deficiency

Unearned premium liability/(asset) at end of year

250,124

(48,742)

201,381

228,312

(42,729)

185,583

Deferred acquisition costs recognised in Balance Sheet (i)

(i) The decrease in deferred acquisition costs recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement during the financial year amounted to nil (2019: decrease of $0.968 million).

Unearned premium represents the proportion of premium written that relates to unexpired terms of policies in force at the
Balance Sheet date, generally calculated on a time proportionate basis.

(b) Movement in unexpired risks liability

Premium ceded to reinsurers is recognised as an expense in accordance with the indemnity period of the corresponding
reinsurance contract. Accordingly, a portion of the outward reinsurance premium is treated as an unearned reinsurance asset at
the Balance Sheet date.

Current

Refer to Note 2.8 for the independent actuarial assessment of the adequacy of net unearned premium liability.

Unexpired risks liability at beginning of year
Increase/(decease) in unexpired risks liability charged/(credited) to income
Unexpired risks liability at end of year
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2020
$’000

2019
$’000

144,416

70,517

71,607

73,899

216,023

144,416
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2. Results from insurance operations (continued)

3. Cash and investments

2.9 Deferred acquisition costs

Introduction to this section

This section contains the following disclosure

Deferred acquisition costs movement:

This section includes the cash and investments that are
held by VMIA that are utilised to fund the insurance operations
outlined in Section 2 together with the associated returns.

3.1

Investment income

3.2

Cash and cash equivalents

3.3

Investments

Note
Deferred acquisition costs at beginning of year
Acquisition costs deferred
Amortisation charged to income
Decrease/(increase) in write down due to premium deficiency

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

–

968

7,709

6,729

(12,007)

(16,221)

4,298

8,524

Decrease in deferred acquisition costs

2.8(a)

–

(968)

Deferred acquisition costs at end of year

2.8(a)

–

–

Acquisition costs, which represent gross commission paid in respect of general insurance contracts, are deferred and recognised as
assets where they can be reliably measured and where it is probable that they will give rise to premium earned that will be recognised
in the Comprehensive Operating Statement in subsequent reporting periods.
Deferred acquisition costs are amortised on the same basis as the earning of premium to which they relate.

3.1 Investment income
Note

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

153,911

177,816

Investment income
Dividends and distributions
Interest
Fair value movements through income
Total investment income

3.2(a)

5,367

8,830

(117,017)

37,700

42,261

224,346

Net investment income

2.10 Trade receivables
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Current
Insurance receivables – non-financial (statutory)

7,220

Other receivables – financial (contractual)

3,192

1,529

10,412

17,633

Total trade receivables

Dividend income is recognised when VMIA has the right to receive payment. Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis. Trust
distributions are recognised when the market price is quoted ex-distribution for listed trusts or when the trustee declares a distribution
for unlisted trusts. Fair value movements of investments is the difference between the fair value of the investments at 30 June 2019 or
the cost of acquisition (for investments purchased during the year), and sales proceeds or their fair value at 30 June 2020.

16,104

Trade receivables represent receivables associated with the premium, reinsurance and other recoveries, claims and commission.
All other receivables are classified as non-trade receivables. Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently
measured at fair value which is approximated by taking the initially recognised amount reduced for impairment where appropriate.
Insurance receivables mainly comprise insurance premium owing by various Victorian Government departments and agencies.
The usual credit terms for insurance premium receivables is 30 days. No interest is charged on insurance premium invoices not paid
within the credit terms. $1.739 million of insurance receivables were past due at 30 June 2020 (2019: $1.694 million).
Credit terms for reinsurance receivables vary. No interest is charged on reinsurance receivable invoices not paid within the credit
terms. No reinsurance receivables were past due at 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil).

3.2 Cash and cash equivalents
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Current
Cash at bank

26,334

32,715

Total cash and cash equivalents

26,334

32,715

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and cash in transit which are held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments rather than for investment purposes.

No provision for doubtful debts has been raised at 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil) as there is no risk of non-recovery of trade receivables.

2.11 Trade payables
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Current
Trade payables – financial (contractual)

1,880

11,343

Deposits held to meet future claim payments – financial (contractual)(i)

11,863

27,881

Total trade payables

13,743

39,224

(i) Deposits held to fund clients’ deductibles where VMIA provides a claims management service to clients in respect of such deductibles.
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3. Cash and investments (continued)
3.2 Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

3.3 Investments (continued)

(a) Reconciliation of net cash inflow from operating activities to net result

(b) Derivative financial instruments
Note

Net result
Profit on disposal of furniture, fittings, equipment and motor vehicles
Depreciation of furniture, fittings, equipment and motor vehicles
Amortisation of intangible assets
Change in outstanding payables for investing activities
Fair value movements through income

3.1

Interest credited to clients
Change in fair value of investments as a result of outstanding settlements

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

(389,191)

(107,643)

(20)

(5)

1,898

1,082

769

830

–

108

117,017

(37,700)

190

(818)

2,747

44,178

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in non-trade receivables
Decrease in prepaid expenses
Decrease in deferred acquisition costs

14,123
80

250

75

–

968

Increase in reinsurance and other assets

(77,906)

(1,765)

Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables

(25,481)

3,308

4,844

(45,230)

929

(17)

Increase/(Decrease) in non-trade payables
Increase/(Decrease) in provisions
Decrease in lease incentive liability

2.8(a)

7,221
(4,244)

(1,560)

(323)

Increase in gross insurance liabilities

529,854

337,730

Net cash inflow from operating activities

167,316

208,980

The use of derivatives forms part of the investment strategy set by VFMC.
VFMC restricts the managers of VMIA’s direct investment portfolio and of the trusts in which VMIA invests by permitting the use of
derivative investments only in the following circumstances:
(i) Hedging to protect the value of the assets against any significant decline in investment markets;
(ii) As a means of making adjustments to the asset allocation while minimising transaction costs; and
(iii) Entering or exiting a position at an advantageous price.
At 30 June 2020, VMIA had exposure to Australian fixed interest futures, Australian share price index futures, international equity
futures, swaps and forward currency contracts. These exposures are valued at fair value as determined by their market value at the
Balance Sheet date.
(c) VMIA’s investment portfolio
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Australian equities

314,422

291,886

Australian bonds

121,670

247,729

US bonds

74,372

–

Emerging market debt

30,842

–

Inflation linked bonds

236,959

261,768

Infrastructure

202,359

170,349

International equities

605,851

639,701

Private credit

185,099

132,438

Note

Insurance investments

23,786

19,539

222,675

223,613

4,306

4,735

Property

180,958

229,113

Short-term money market funds

386,794

318,302

2,590,094

2,539,174

(22,494)

(11,244)

Hedge funds

3.3 Investments

Private equity

(a) Investment framework
VMIA’s investment activity is undertaken pursuant to the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority Act 1996, the Borrowing and Investment
Powers Act 1987, the Prudential Standard: VFMC and the Centralised Investment Model and Orders in Council dated 1 February 2009
and 23 June 2015 respectively.
The Orders in Council define the responsibilities of VMIA and VFMC. VMIA is responsible for setting the investment objectives
after considering such matters as capital needs, income and expenditure requirements, future projections of assets and liabilities
and risk preferences of the Assistant Treasurer. VFMC has the responsibility to develop and implement suitable investment strategies
to meet VMIA’s investment objective and ensure that its systems encompass strong internal controls and good corporate governance.
The investment strategy that is determined by VFMC is documented in a detailed Investment Risk Management Plan which is approved
by the Treasurer of Victoria.

Total fair value at 30 June
Derivative liabilities
Current
Non-current
Total derivative liabilities at fair value

8.1(c)

–

–

(22,494)

(11,244)

Note: The prior year comparative numbers have been updated to align to the new Investment Risk Management Plan

The Department of Treasury and Finance ensures that appropriate structures exist to manage investment risk and undertakes the
prudential supervision of VFMC.
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3. Cash and investments (continued)

4. Leases

3.3 Investments (continued)

Introduction to this section

This section contains the following disclosure

Assets backing insurance liabilities

This section provides details of the lease assets and
liabilities due to the introduction of the new accounting
standard AASB 16.

4.1

Right-of-use-assets

4.2

Lease liability

VMIA has determined that all assets, except for prepaid expenses and furniture, fittings, equipment and motor vehicles, are held to back
the insurance liabilities and are valued at fair value in the Balance Sheet.
Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with FRD 114C Financial Instruments and AASB 1023
General Insurance Contracts. Initial recognition is at fair value in the Balance Sheet with any subsequent changes in fair value recognised
in the Comprehensive Operating Statement.
Details of fair value for the different types of financial and non-financial assets are listed below:

VMIA has adopted AASB 16 from 1 July 2019. The standard replaces AASB 117 Leases and related interpretations and for lessees
removes the operating/finance lease distinction for lessees. The application of AASB 16 results in the recognition of all leases on the
Balance Sheet in the form of a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability.

•

Cash on hand, cash at bank, cash in transit and short-term money market funds are carried at the face value which approximates to
their fair value.

•

Receivables are recognised and measured at fair value being the undisputed recoverable amounts between counterparties.

•

Equities, fixed interest securities, derivatives and unit trusts listed on an organised financial market are initially recognised at cost
and the subsequent fair value is taken as the quoted bid price of the instrument at the Balance Sheet date.

•

Unlisted fixed interest securities are recorded at amounts based on valuations using rates of interest equivalent to the yields
obtainable on comparable investments at the Balance Sheet date.

4.1 Right-of-use-assets

•

Units in unlisted financial instruments are recorded at fair value as determined by the fund manager or valuations by other skilled
independent third parties. In determining fair values, observable market transactions of the units and the underlying assets are
used where available and applicable. Some of the underlying assets of these financial instruments are valued using valuation
models and techniques that include inputs which are not based on observable market data. The carrying amounts include accrued
distributions.

Non-current

•

Derivative financial instruments are classified as financial assets and financial liabilities. They are initially recognised at fair value on
the date on which the derivative contract is entered into. Derivatives are carried as assets when their net fair value is positive and
liabilities when their net fair value is negative. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives after initial
recognition are recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement.

•

Reinsurance and other recovery assets are measured at the present value of expected future receipts and are subject to an
independent actuarial valuation on a similar basis to the claims liabilities (refer to Note 2.4).

VMIA adopted AASB 16 using the modified retrospective approach with no restatement of comparative information.
VMIA has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases with terms of 12 months
or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed to profit or loss as incurred.

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Cost

14,686

–

Accumulated depreciation

(1,725)

–

Total right-of-use-asset

12,961

–

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

1,462

–

Non-current

12,279

–

Total lease liability

13,741

–

4.2 Lease liability

Refer to Note 8.3 for fair value details of the financial instruments.
All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by regulation or market
convention are recognised at trade date, being the date on which VMIA commits to buy or sell the asset.
Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive future cash flows from the assets have expired, or have been transferred, and
VMIA has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Current

Investments are classified as current and non-current in accordance with maturity dates. Investments that are due to mature, expire
or be realised within 12 months of the Balance Sheet date are classified as current investments. All equity investments are classified as
non-current. While this classification policy may result in a reported working capital deficit, VMIA holds high-quality liquid assets in its
investment portfolio which are readily convertible to cash assets.
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5. Cost of operations

6. Other liabilities

Introduction to this section

This section contains the following disclosure

Introduction to this section

This section contains the following disclosure

This section provides details of expenses incurred by VMIA
to support its day-to-day operating activities.

5.1

Administration expenses

6.1

5.2

Superannuation benefits

This section includes other liabilities that are employed
by VMIA to support its day-to-day operating activities.

5.1 Administration expenses

Staff and related

6.1 Non-trade payables
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

36,338

32,749

Professional services

4,149

4,550

Accruals and other payables – financial (contractual)

Information services

4,285

4,354

Outstanding investment settlements – financial (contractual)

Client risk management

861

1,757

Goods and Services Taxation - non-financial (statutory)

Strategic risk

589

1,493

Stamp duty – non-financial (statutory)

2,667

1,913

Total non-trade payables

Depreciation of furniture, fittings, equipment and motor vehicles
Other operating

3,664

4,459

Total administration expenses

52,553

51,275

Less: unallocated claims expenses

(6,602)

(7,633)

Net administration expenses

45,951

43,642

Total administration expenses include the following:
Auditor-General’s fees
Operating lease expenditure
Interest expense

Non-trade payables

142

142

1,120

2,600

–

–

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

6,995

6,579

Current
38

2,785

5,319

1,822

4,897

1,219

17,249

12,405

Trade payables (refer to Note 2.11) represent payables associated with the premium, reinsurance and other recoveries, claims and
commission. All other payables are classified as non-trade payables. Payables are recognised and measured at fair value being the cost
of the goods and services.
Payables comprise contractual payables; for example, accounts payable, and statutory payables comprise GST and stamp duty payables.
Accounts payable represent liabilities for goods and services provided to VMIA prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid.
Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
Statutory payables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as financial instruments
because they do not arise from a contract.

Administration expenses represent the day-to-day costs in managing VMIA and are recognised as they are incurred. No remuneration
was paid to the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office for any other services except for audit services.

5.2 Superannuation benefits
VMIA contributes superannuation benefits for employees to both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit
plan provides benefits based on years of service and final average salary. VMIA does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect
of this plan because the entity has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees. VMIA’s obligation
is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury and Finance recognises and discloses the State’s
defined benefit liabilities in its financial report. Superannuation contributions paid or payable during the financial year are included as
part of administration expenses in Note 5.1. There were no superannuation contributions outstanding at 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil).
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7. Equity and capital management

8. Financial instruments

Introduction to this section

This section contains the following disclosure

Introduction to this section

This section contains the following disclosure

This section covers equity and transactions with the State.

7.1

This section provides information on the sources and risks of
finance utilised by VMIA in its operations, including disclosure
of balances that are financial instruments and fair values.

8.1

Financial risk management

8.2

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

8.3

Fair values

Equity

7.1 Equity
There is no minority interest in the equity of VMIA. The equity is not represented by share capital with a specified par value.
(a) Capital management

8.1 Financial risk management
VMIA’s operating activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including market risk (being equity price risk, foreign currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Order in Council gazetted on 14 May 2015 declared VMIA as a reorganising body under section 7 of the State Owned Enterprises
Act 1992 and gave the Treasurer the power to direct VMIA to pay dividends and/or repay capital to the State after consulting with the
Assistant Treasurer and VMIA’s Board of Directors.

(a) Market risk

Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as contributed capital in accordance
with FRD 119A Transfers through Contributed Capital.

VMIA is exposed to equity price risk arising from investments held at fair value through profit and loss. VFMC limits equity price risk
through diversification of the equity investment portfolio.

(b) Statutory guarantee

The listed equity sensitivity analysis below has been determined for the directly held Australian and international equities which
are listed on the Australian Stock Exchange and international stock exchanges, and effective exposure to futures, both domestic and
international. Australian and international equities that are held through trusts are included in the analysis of unlisted investment prices.
The following details VMIA’s sensitivity to a 15% (2019: 15%) increase or decrease in markets based on exposures at the Balance Sheet
date and assumes that the change takes place at the beginning of the financial year and remains constant to the Balance Sheet date.

The due satisfaction of amounts payable by VMIA as a result of, or in connection with, liabilities of VMIA is guaranteed by the
State of Victoria. VMIA’s financial objective is to operate essentially as a stand-alone entity. To this end VMIA seeks to hold sufficient
capital to maintain an acceptable probability that with appropriate reinsurance, it will be able to fund its liabilities as they fall due
and not have to rely on its guarantee from the State. It is not anticipated that VMIA will call on the statutory guarantee other than in
exceptional circumstances.

(i) Equity price risk

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Decrease of 15%

810

(1,975)

Increase of 15%

(810)

1,975

(c) Guarantee fee
Impact on comprehensive result and equity from a movement in equity prices

Pursuant to section 27 of the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority Act 1996, the State has guaranteed amounts payable by
VMIA as a result of, or in connection with, liabilities of VMIA. In accordance with subsection 27(3) of the Victorian Managed Insurance
Authority Act 1996 VMIA must, in respect of this statutory guarantee, pay to the Treasurer for payment into the Consolidated Fund
from any surplus for the year ended on the preceding 30 June such amount as the Treasurer determines after consultation with VMIA.
VMIA has not received any Treasurer’s determination in relation to the payment of a guarantee fee for the financial year ended 30 June
2020 (2019: Nil).

Unlisted investments prices

Dividends

Decrease of 15%

(318,053)

(328,760)

In accordance with section 13 of the State Owned Enterprises Act 1992, VMIA is required to pay to the State a dividend as determined
by the Treasurer. An obligation to pay a dividend only arises after a formal determination is made by the Treasurer after consulting
with the Assistant Treasurer and VMIA’s Board of Directors. No dividend was paid during the financial year ended 30 June 2020
(2019: $408 million).

Increase of 15%

318,053

328,760

(ii) Foreign currency risk

Listed investments prices

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. VMIA is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk through its investments which are denominated
in foreign currencies.
VFMC limits foreign exchange risk through the use of forward currency contracts where it agrees to sell specified amounts of foreign
currencies in the future at predetermined exchange rates. The proportion of foreign exchange risk that is hedged is reviewed regularly
to ensure that the net exposure is maintained at a level that is consistent with VMIA’s overall Investment Objective. VFMC’s policy,
contained in its Investment Risk Management Plan approved by the Treasurer of Victoria, is to adopt a neutral hedged position of 25%
(2019: 25%) of international equities exposure and 100% (2019: 100%) of other international asset exposure.
The foreign currency risk disclosure has been prepared on the basis of VMIA’s direct investment and not on a look-through basis for
investments held indirectly through unit trusts. Consequently, the disclosure of currency risk may not represent the true currency risk
profile of VMIA where the unit trust has significant investments which have exposure to the currency markets.
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8. Financial instruments (continued)
8.1 Financial risk management (continued)

8.1 Financial risk management (continued)

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on VMIA’s exposure to foreign currencies at the Balance Sheet date and
a 10% (2019: 10%) increase or decrease in the Australian dollar against the relevant foreign currencies and assumes that the change
takes place at the beginning of the financial year and remains constant to the Balance Sheet date.

(b) Credit risk

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Decrease of 10%

(3,271)

(8,336)

Increase of 10%

2,677

6,820

Impact on comprehensive result and equity from a movement in foreign exchange rates

The credit risk of the investment portfolio is managed by VFMC and its appointed fund managers under instructions from VFMC. The
appointed fund managers, through VFMC, manage credit risk by diversifying the exposure amongst counterparties. VFMC manages
counterparty credit risk by conducting due diligences on counterparties and will only deal with counterparties of high quality and with
substantial balance sheets. Agreements also contain provisions for the agreements to be reviewed or rescinded upon the occurrence of
specified events relating to counterparty credit and liquidity.
The establishment of appropriate policies and multi-tiered limits ensures that VMIA maintains a diversified portfolio without any
significant concentration of credit risk on an industry, regional or foreign country basis.

(iii) Interest rate risk

Financial assets held with the following credit grades:

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. Where the applicable fair value is determined by discounting future cash flows, movements in interest rates
will result in a reported unrealised gain or loss in the Comprehensive Operating Statement. An increase in interest rates results in a
decrease in the value of investments, while a decrease in interest rates increases the value of investments.
VFMC and its fund managers seek to manage interest rate risk through an asset allocation strategy for the investment portfolio
which acts as an economic hedge against VMIA’s insurance liabilities. As interest rates move, to the extent these assets and liabilities
can be matched, increases or decreases in claims incurred arising from the remeasurement of the claims liabilities will be offset by
increases or decreases in the fair value of interest bearing investments.
VFMC uses derivatives to manage the interest rate risk on interest rate sensitive assets. Interest rate swap contracts and forward
rate agreements are used to either change the interest rate risk between fixed and floating rates of interest or between different
floating rates of interest.

Fixed rate
$’000

Trade receivables (i)

2019

Variable rate
$’000

Total
$’000

Fixed rate
$’000

Trade receivables (i)

3,112
–

8.1 (a)(iii)

Variable rate
$’000

2.10

Non-trade receivables

Total
$’000

Debt securities
Total (ii)

8.1(b)

2.10

Non-trade receivables
Total (ii)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Noninvestment
grade
$’000

Not rated
$’000

Total
$’000

–

80

3,192

–

3,964

3,964

17,828

–

–

17,828

20,939

–

4,044

24,983

1,479

–

50

1,529

–

–

62

62

39,463

–

–

39,463

40,942

–

112

41,054

2019

2020
Note

Note

Investment
grade
$’000

2020

Debt securities

A summary of VMIA’s exposure to interest rate risk on financial instruments follows:

Debt securities

Credit risk arises from the potential default of an issuer or counterparty on their contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss
to VMIA.

–

26,334

26,334

–

32,715

32,715

–

17,828

17,828

21,554

17,909

39,463

Interest rate derivatives

–

–

–

91

–

91

Short-term money market funds

–

400,978

400,978

–

302,702

302,702

Financial assets exposed to interest rate risk

–

445,140

445,140

21,645

353,326

374,971

8.1 (a)(iii)

(i) Trade receivables exclude statutory receivables which mainly comprise insurance premium owing by various Victorian Government departments and agencies as the credit risk is minimal.
(ii) The above analysis excludes cash and cash equivalents and short-term money market funds for which the credit risk is minimal.

Investment grade financial assets include only those assets with Standard & Poor’s credit ratings of AAA to A- (long term) and/or A-1+
to A-3 (short term). Non-investment grade financial assets have Standard & Poor’s credit ratings of BBB+ to BBB-. Not rated financial
assets include assets that have not been formally rated by Standard & Poor’s but are within the risk parameters outlined in
the Investment Risk Management Plan.

Financial liabilities
Interest rate derivatives
Short-term money market funds
Trade payables (i)
Lease liability
Financial liabilities exposed to interest rate risk
Net exposure

2.11

77

–

77

–

–

–

–

41,715

41,715

–

25,898

25,898

–

11,863

11,863

–

27,881

27,881

13,741

–

13,741

–

–

–

13,818

53,578

67,396

–

53,779

53,779

(13,818)

391,562

377,744

21,645

299,547

321,192

(i) Trade payables represent deposits held to fund clients’ deductibles where VMIA provides a claims management service to clients in respect of such deductibles.

A sensitivity table is not disclosed as the impact of a 1.0% movement in interest rates with all other variables held constant
on VMIA’s net profit and equity is not material.
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8. Financial instruments (continued)
8.1 Financial risk management (continued)

8.3 Fair values

(c) Liquidity risk

(a) Measurement of fair values

Liquidity risk is the risk that VMIA will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due.

A number of VMIA’s accounting policies and disclosure require the measurement of fair values for both financial and non-financial
assets and liabilities in accordance with the requirements of AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement.

VFMC uses a combination of cash and futures portfolios plus a largely liquid portfolio of investments to ensure sufficient liquidity is
available at all times to meet VMIA’s operating requirements. VMIA is cash flow positive with insurance premium, investment income
and other income receipts exceeding claim payments, reinsurance premium, commission and administration expense payments.
The following table summarises the maturity profile of the derivatives that form part of VMIA’s financial liabilities. The table is based on
the undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities and on the earliest date on which VMIA can be required to pay.
Note

Under 1 year
$’000

1–5 years
$’000

Over 5 years
$’000

Total
$’000

8.2

22,494

–

–

22,494

2020
Financial liabilities
Financial derivatives

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy based on the input used in the valuation techniques as follows:
Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable.
Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, VMIA has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics
and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. In addition, VMIA determines whether
transfers have occurred between the different levels in the fair value hierarchy by reviewing the categorisation at the end of each
financial year.

2019
Financial liabilities
Financial derivatives

8.2

11,244

–

–

11,244

All other trade payables and non-trade payables are incurred in the ordinary course of trade and are expected to be settled within 30
days (2019: 30 days).

Note

Level 1
$’000

3.2

26,334

2.10

–
–

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

–

–

26,334

3,192

–

3,192

3,964

–

3,964

2020
Financial assets and financial liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Non-trade receivables

8.2 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Level 2
$’000

Investments and derivative liabilities

The following table discloses financial assets and financial liabilities that have been offset in the Balance Sheet in accordance with
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation and those that have not been offset in the Balance Sheet but are subject to enforceable
master netting agreements (or similar arrangements) with trading counterparties.

Australian equities

3.3(c)

(80)

314,503

–

314,423

Australian bonds

3.3(c)

14

121,656

–

121,670

US bonds

3.3(c)

–

74,372

–

74,372

The net positions of financial assets and financial liabilities that meet the criteria for offsetting in the normal course of business
are disclosed in the Balance Sheet at financial year end and are disclosed in the first column of the table below.

Emerging market debt

3.3(c)

–

30,842

–

30,842

Inflation linked bonds

3.3(c)

(91)

237,050

–

236,959

Infrastructure

3.3(c)

–

15,622

186,737

202,359

International equities

3.3(c)

(25,459)

631,311

–

605,851
185,099

The second column represents the related amounts that do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the normal course of business, but
can be offset under certain circumstances, such as default or when the right to offset is conditional upon the default of the counterparty.
The third column represents the related amounts that have not been offset in the Balance Sheet but are subject to any related financial
collateralised obligation in accordance with AASB 7 Financial Instruments. The last column discloses the net impact on the Balance Sheet
if all existing rights of offset were exercised.
Related amounts not set-off
in the Balance Sheet

Note

Net amount
disclosed in
Balance Sheet
$’000

Related amounts
subject to master
netting agreements
$’000

Collateralised
obligation
$’000

Net amount
$’000

3.3(c)

–

29,593

155,506

3.3(c)

–

1,888

21,898

23,786

Hedge funds

3.3(c)

–

41,156

181,519

222,675

Private equity

3.3(c)

–

21

4,285

4,306

Property

3.3(c)

–

3,486

177,472

180,958

Short-term money market funds

3.3(c)

386,794

–

–

386,794

2.11

–

(13,743)

–

(13,743)

6.1

(38)

(6,995)

–

(7,033)

387,474

1,487,917

727,418

2,602,809

Trade payables
Non-trade payables
Total financial assets and financial liabilities

2020
Derivative assets
Derivative liabilities

Private credit
Insurance investments

3.3(c), 8.1(c)

109,002

(21,971)

(41,621)

45,409

(22,494)

21,971

304

(219)

41,442

(8,369)

(25,239)

7,834

(11,244)

8,369

56

(2,819)

2019
Derivative assets
Derivative liabilities
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8. Financial instruments (continued)
8.3 Fair values (continued)

8.3 Fair values (continued)

(a) Measurement of fair values (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets
Note

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

2019

Trade receivables

2019
$’000

Balance at beginning of year

711,248

688,138

Acquisitions

186,469

87,290

(129,619)

(79,906)

17,183

15,216

Level 3 fair value hierarchy reconciliation of investments

Financial assets and financial liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents

2020
$’000

Total
$’000

3.2

32,715

–

–

32,715

2.10

–

1,529

–

1,529

–

62

–

62

Non-trade receivables
Investments and derivative liabilities

Disposals
Gains on disposal credited to income
Gains on changes in fair value

(57,863)

510

Balance at end of year

727,418

711,248

Australian equities

3.3(c)

(26)

291,912

–

291,886

Australian bonds

3.3(c)

–

247,729

–

247,729

US bonds

3.3(c)

–

–

–

–

Key inputs and assumptions subject to estimation uncertainty

Emerging market debt

3.3(c)

–

–

–

–

Inflation linked bonds

3.3(c)

91

261,677

–

261,768
170,349

The investments managed by VFMC on behalf of VMIA include unlisted financial instruments that are not traded in an active market.
Hence, their fair values at the Balance Sheet date are based on prices advised by the external fund managers as well as valuations
determined by appropriately skilled independent third parties.

Infrastructure

3.3(c)

–

(325)

170,674

International equities

3.3(c)

(24,064)

663,765

–

639,701

Private credit

3.3(c)

–

(73)

132,511

132,438

Insurance investments

3.3(c)

–

(12)

19,551

19,539

Hedge funds

3.3(c)

–

68,964

154,648

223,613

Private equity

3.3(c)

–

(15)

4,750

4,735

Property

3.3(c)

–

–

229,113

229,113

Short-term money market funds

3.3(c)

301,837

16,465

–

318,302

2.11

–

(39,224)

–

(39,224)

6.1

(2,785)

(6,579)

–

(9,364)

307,768

1,505,876

711,248

2,524,892

Trade payables
Non-trade payables
Total financial assets and financial liabilities

Where valuation techniques including discounted cash flows, analysis based on multiples, comparison with similar transactions and
other appropriate valuation techniques have been employed in valuing investments, the valuations are inherently subject to estimation
uncertainty. Given this inherent uncertainty, the underlying inputs and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis to ensure that the
valuations reflect the best estimates of the economic conditions at the Balance Sheet date. The value of these investments subject to
estimation uncertainty is set out in the table below.
It is possible that the outcomes, within the next financial year, could be different from the inputs and assumptions used in the current
valuation models and could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of these financial instruments.

Transfers between fair value hierarchy levels
During the current financial year there were no (2019: Nil) transfers from Level 2 to Level 3 based on management’s annual
reassessment of the significance of unobservable valuation inputs that had been used to derive the fair value of those investments.
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8. Financial instruments (continued)

9. Other disclosure

8.3 Fair values (continued)

Introduction to this section

This section contains the following disclosure

The disclosure below provides details of the inputs and assumptions used in the current valuation models. Further detailed information
has been provided where available. A significant majority of these investments are held via third party pooled investment vehicles, and
as such VMIA is not privy to the detailed inputs and assumptions used to value the underlying investment assets and hence VMIA is not
in a position to provide the sensitivity analysis pertaining to the fair value measurement due to changes in unobservable inputs.

This section includes additional material disclosure required
by accounting standards for the understanding of this financial
report.

9.1

New accounting standards and interpretations

9.2

Commitments and contingencies

9.3

Responsible persons

9.4

Related parties

Investment class

Valuation methodologies

Key inputs and assumptions

9.5

Remuneration of VMIA officers with executive 		
responsibility

Diversified fixed income investments

Diversified fixed income investments – third
party pricing servicers, which source prices
from brokers and market makers.

•

Appropriate credit spread and other risk
premium.

9.6

Subsequent events

•

Future risk-free rate.

•

Estimated future cash flows.

•

Identification of appropriate comparables.

•

Future economic and regulatory
conditions.

Less liquid securities – discounted cash flow,
amortised cost, direct comparison and others.

•

Life expectancy estimates and mortality
probabilities.

Discounted cash flow.

•

Risk premium.

The nature of the application of these standards could impact the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities. There is not expected to be a material impact to VMIA for standards with an operative date of 1 January 2020, further
explanation is provided below. The extent of any impact from other standards with an operative date after 1 January 2020 has not yet
been determined.

•

Risk-free discount rate.

VMIA will apply these for the annual reporting period beginning on or after the operating dates set out below.

•

Asset utilisation rates.

•

Capital and operating expenditure
forecasts.

•

Other estimated future cash flows
dependent on the longer term general
economic forecasts.

•

Forecast performance of applicable
underlying assets.

Non-traditional strategies investments

Infrastructure investments

Private equity investments

Property investments

70

Prices quoted on an exchange or traded in a
dealer market.

Multiples of earnings, discounted cash flow,
market equivalents and other market accepted
methodologies.
Discounted cash flow, capitalisation and direct
comparison methodologies.

•

Risk-free discount rate, risk premium.

•

Estimated future cash flows.

•

Estimated future profits.

•

Identification of appropriate comparables.

•

Future economic and regulatory
conditions.

Victorian Managed I nsurance Authority

9.1 New accounting standards and interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that may be applicable to VMIA but are not mandatory for
the year ended 30 June 2020.

Title

Operative date

AASB 2018-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Definition of Material

1 January 2020

AASB 2020-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Classifcation of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current

1 January 2023

AASB 17

Insurance Contracts

1 January 2023

In addition to those accounting standards listed above, the Australian Accounting Standards Board has also released a number of
other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. These Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations are either
not applicable or will have a minimal impact on VMIA’s financial report and thus have not been specifically identified above.
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9. Other disclosure (continued)
9.2 Commitments and contingencies

9.4 Related parties

Commitments include operating and capital commitments and are disclosed at their nominal value and are inclusive of GST.

(a) Key management personnel and related parties

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed by way of a note and,
if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are presented inclusive of GST.

The key management personnel of VMIA include the Responsible Minister, the members of VMIA’s Board of Directors, the Chief
Executive Officer and officers with executive responsibility.

VMIA has no known contingent assets and contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil).

The related parties of VMIA include:

Capital commitments

•

all key management personnel and their close family members and personal business interests (controlled entities, joint ventures
and entities they have significant influence over); and

•

all Cabinet ministers and their close family members.

VMIA has uncalled capital commitments in respect of investments totalling $250.675 million as at 30 June 2020 (2019: $299.176 million).

9.3 Responsible persons
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994, the following
disclosure is made with regard to responsible persons for the financial year.

Compensation of key management personnel

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

(a) Responsible persons

Short-term employee benefits

3,357

3,239

The names of persons who were responsible persons at any time during the financial year are as follows:

Post-employment benefits

254

270

Other long-term benefits

284

210

Responsible Minister:

R. Scott MP. (until 15 June 2020)
D. Pearson MP. (appointed 22 June 2020)

Governing Board of Directors:

E. Rubin, C. Christian (until 14 October 2019),
J. Doak, C. Keating , B. King, C. Lovell, R. Castle and G. Sedgwick (appointed 19 November 2019)

Accountable Officer:

C. Radford (Chief Executive Officer until 8 November 2019)
J. Brennan (Acting Chief Executive Officer appointed 11 November 2019 until 31 January 2020)
A. Davies (Chief Executive Officer appointed 3 February 2020)

Termination benefits

–

–

Total compensation

3,894

3,719

Remuneration and allowances pertaining to ministers are reported in the financial report of the Department of Parliamentary Services.
Remuneration of VMIA’s officers with executive responsibility, other than the Chief Executive Officer, is reported in Note 9.5.
For information pertaining to related party transactions of ministers, the register of members’ interests is publicly available from:
www.parliament.vic.gov.au/publications/register-of-interests

(b) Remuneration of responsible persons
The number of responsible persons during the financial year is shown below in their relevant total income bands:
2020

2019

$0 – $9,999

–

3

$10,000 – $19,999

1

–

$20,000 – $29,999

1

1

$30,000 – $39,999

–

1

$40,000 – $49,999

5

3

$80,000 – $89,999

–

–

$90,000 – $99,999

1

1

$90,000 – $99,999

1

–

$160,000 – $169,999

1

–

$290,000 – $299,999

1

–

$480,000 – $489,999

–

1

Directors

Accountable Officers

The Directors’ remuneration shown in the above table is as determined by the Assistant Treasurer.
The Responsible Ministers, R. Scott MP and D. Pearson MP, did not receive any remuneration from VMIA. Remuneration and
allowances pertaining to the Assistant Treasurer are set in accordance with the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968
and reported in the financial report of the Department of Parliamentary Services.
The remuneration, including the superannuation guarantee contribution, received or receivable by responsible persons from
VMIA amounted to $854,927 (2019: $848,432).
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9. Other disclosure (continued)
9.4 Related parties (continued)

9.4 Related parties (continued)

(b) Other transactions and balances with key management personnel and other related parties

VMIA provides insurance and risk services to the related parties of the key management personnel of the government sector, including
Directors, and Officers, Liability insurance, disclosed in the table below on normal commercial terms and conditions. The additional
comments in the table below provide further disclosure in respect of the transactions with related parties.

During the current financial year no key management personnel received or became entitled to receive any benefit from VMIA,
other than remuneration disclosed in the financial report, from a contract between VMIA and that key management person or firm or
company of which that key management person is a member or has a substantial interest (2019: Nil).
Any transactions or issues that involve related parties listed below are dealt with on normal commercial terms and conditions and
without reference to the key management personnel concerned. All income and expense transactions exclude stamp duty and GST.
Gross
premium
written
$

Gross claims
paid
$

Risk Management
Program expenses
$

Administration
expenses
$

Investment
expenses
$

568,660

–

–

–

–

2,306,136

16,230

–

–

7,195,702

2020

State Library of Victoria
Victorian Funds Management Corporation

33,855

–

–

–

–

VicForests

Mirvac Home Builders (Vic) Pty Limited

430,892

–

–

–

–

Metropolitan Fire and Emergency Services Board

891,828

1,245,430

–

–

–

2,416

–

–

–

–

Kids Under Cover
Yooralla
Judicial Commission of Victoria
Cenitex
CatholicCare
Total

–

440,416

–

–

–

19,000

–

–

–

–

122,575

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

4,375,362

1,702,076

–

–

7,195,702

Key
management
person

Related party

Key management
person’s relationship
with related party

C. Christian

State Library of Victoria

Director

VMIA hires venues from the State Library of Victoria on
normal commercial terms and conditions.

J. Doak

Metropolitan Fire and
Emergency Services
Board

Director

VMIA provides insurance on normal terms and conditions

C. Keating

Yooralla

Director

VMIA provides insurance on normal terms and conditions

CARE Super

Director

VMIA contributes superannuation benefits to CARE Super
for a number of employees. Resigned directorship on 31
December 2019

AustralianSuper

Director

VMIA contributes superannuation benefits to
AustralianSuper for a number of employees.

Cenitex

Member

VMIA provides insurance on normal terms and conditions

Judicial Commission of
Victoria

Director

VMIA provides insurance on normal terms and conditions

Victorian Funds Managed
Corporation (VFMC)

Director

VFMC is VMIA’s investment manager and receives
investment management fees for its services on normal
terms and conditions.

Mirvac Limited

Director

Mirvac Limited is the ultimate holding company of Mirvac
Home Builders (VIC) Pty Limited. VMIA provides domestic
building insurance to Mirvac Home Builders (VIC) Pty
Limited on normal commercial terms and conditions.
Resigned directorship 19 November 2019

C. Lovell

VicForests

Director

VMIA provides insurance on normal terms and conditions

R. Castle

CatholicCare

Director

VMIA provides insurance on normal terms and conditions

C. Radford

Kids Under Cover

Chairperson

VMIA provides insurance on normal terms and conditions

E. Rubin

2019

State Library of Victoria

555,002

–

–

–

–

Victorian Funds Management Corporation

828,652

37,563

–

–

8,343,392

Mirvac Home Builders (Vic) Pty Limited

126,845

–

–

–

–

VicForests

336,567

–

–

–

–

Metropolitan Fire and Emergency Services Board

809,525

570,685

–

–

–

Transport Accident Commission

226,860

3,018

–

–

–

Kids Under Cover
Yooralla
Judicial Commission of Victoria

5,006

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

423

–

18,250

–

–

–

–

Cenitex

–

–

–

–

–

CatholicCare

–

–

–

–

–

2,906,707

611,266

–

423

8,343,392

Total

Additional comments

9.5 Remuneration of VMIA officers with executive responsibility
The number of VMIA officers with executive responsibility, other than the Chief Executive Officer and their total remuneration during
the financial year is shown in the table below. The total annualised employee equivalent (AEE) is based on working 7.6 (2019: 7.6)
ordinary hours per day during the financial year. The AEE provides a measure of full-time equivalent executive officers during the
financial year.

Short-term employee benefits

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

2,614

2,514

Post-employment benefits

207

225

Other long-term benefits

219

210

Termination benefits
Total remuneration

–

–

3,039

2,949

Total number of VMIA officers with executive responsibility

12

11

Total AEE

9.8

9.5

In 2020 one VMIA officer with executive responsibility acted in the Accountable Officer role for part of the financial year (2019: Nil).

9.6 Subsequent events
No material events affecting VMIA have occurred between the Balance Sheet date and the date of this report.
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Declaration by Chairperson,
Chief Executive Officer
and Interim Chief
Performance Officer

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Board ofAuditor’s
the Victorian Managed
Insurance Authority
Independent
Report
Opinion

I have audited the financial report of the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority (the

To the Board of the Victorian
Insurance
Authority)Managed
which comprises
the: Authority
Opinion

I have audited
the financial
the2020
Victorian Managed Insurance Authority (the
•
balance
sheet report
asReport
at 30ofJune
Independent
Auditor’s
Authority)
comprises the:
• which
comprehensive
operating statement for the year then ended
To the Board of the
Victorian
Managed
Insurance
Authority
•
statement of changes
in equity
for the year then ended
Opinion

The attached financial report for the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority has been prepared in accordance with Direction 5.2 of
the Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions,
Australian Accounting Standards including interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.
We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the Comprehensive Operating Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of
Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions for the year ended 30 June
2020 and the financial position of the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority at 30 June 2020.

•
•
•
•
•
•
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At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial report to be
misleading or inaccurate.
We authorise the attached financial report for issue on 28 August 2020.
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matters
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opinion
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addressed in the context of my audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming my
Key audit
matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most
opinion thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

significance in my audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of my audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming my
opinion thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter

How I addressed the matter

How I addressed the matter

Valuation of investment assets and derivative liabilities

Valuation of gross claims liabilities

Refer to Note 3.3 of the financial report for the accounting policy associated with the valuation of investment
assets and derivative liabilities and Note 8.3 of the financial report for the methods and assumptions applied
by management in valuing investment assets and derivative liabilities.

Refer to Note 2.3(a) of the financial report for the accounting policy associated with the valuation of the gross

Investment assets: $2.6 billion

My key procedures included:

Gross claims liabilities - $2.5 billion

My key procedures included:

Derivative liabilities: $22.5 million

•

I considered this to be a key audit matter because:

•

I considered this to be a key audit matter because:
•
•

•

•

•

•

investment assets and derivative liabilities
are financially significant
there are several types of investment
assets and derivative liabilities with varying
observable and unobservable inputs
impacting how and when they are valued
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
may not be present for the valuation of
some investment assets and derivative
liabilities. This includes those with stale
investment prices at reporting date and/or
those which are subject to significant
estimation uncertainty
the performance of financial markets
fluctuated over the period impacting the
value of investment assets and derivative
liabilities
the management of investment assets and
derivative liabilities is outsourced to a fund
manager and a master custodian
extensive disclosures are required by
Australian accounting standards which are
critical to the users understanding of the
valuation of investment assets and
liabilities.

•

•

•

Management engaged an independent assurance
auditor to report on the:
•

•
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Key audit matter

description, design and operating
effectiveness of controls at the fund
manager and master custodian
existence, valuation and rights and
obligations of investment assets and
derivative liabilities at 30 June.

•

gaining an understanding of key controls over the
outsourced arrangement, and assessing and
testing their operating effectiveness
obtaining reports provided by the independent
assurance auditor and:
o assessing the adequacy of the scope of work
agreed between management and the
independent assurance auditor
o assessing the professional competence and
independence of the independent assurance
auditor in the context of the engagement
o evaluating findings provided in the
independent assurance reports
o relying on the assurance reports to confirm
the description, design and operating
effectiveness of controls at the fund
manager and master custodian annually
o relying on the assurance reports to confirm
the existence, valuation and rights and
obligations of investment assets and
derivative liabilities at 30 June.
o assessing the impact of any limitations,
disclaimers or exceptions noted in the
assurance reports to the audit.
reviewing and assessing the impact of other
representations given by the fund manager and
master custodian
analysing investment assets and derivative
liabilities, in conjunction with management, to
identify those where issues may exist in obtaining
sufficient and appropriate evidence over their
valuation, then obtaining further audit evidence
that the value of identified assets and liabilities
were materially correct.
assessing the completeness and adequacy of
financial report disclosures against the
requirements of Australian accounting standards.

Victorian Managed I nsurance Authority

claims liabilities and Note 2.4 of the financial report for the actuarial assumptions and methods applied by
management in valuing the liabilities.

•
•
•

•

•

the gross claims liabilities are financially
significant
the underlying model used to value the
liabilities is complex
the valuation of the liabilities is subject to
significant management assumptions and
estimation uncertainty
a small adjustment to a key assumption may
have a significant effect on the total value of
the liabilities
extensive disclosures are required by
Australian accounting standards which are
critical to the users understanding of the
valuation of this liability

•

•

Management engage actuaries to value the
liabilities as at 30 June.

•

Board’s
responsibilities
for the
financial
report

assessing and testing the operating effectiveness
of key controls supporting the underlying claims
data used in the model
assessing the completeness and accuracy of the
claims data used in the model by reconciling this
data to underlying claims data in the insurers
systems
obtaining management’s actuarial reports, and
engaging an appropriately qualified independent
actuary to:
o assess the appropriateness of
management's selection and application of
the methods, significant assumptions and
data used in valuing the liabilities
o assessing the appropriateness of the model
used to value the liabilities
o challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions by comparing against claims
history and accepted industry benchmarks
o assessing the reasonableness of the
reported liabilities value.
assessing the adequacy of financial report
disclosures against the requirements of
applicable Australian accounting standards.

The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial Management Act 1994,
and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation
and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the Authority’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so.
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Auditor’s
responsibilities
for the audit
of the financial
report

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
•

•

•
•

•

Auditor’s
Auditor’s
responsibilities
responsibilities
for
for the
the audit
audit
of
of the
the financial
financial
report
report
(continued)
(continued)

I, Elana Rubin, on behalf of the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority, certify that the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority has
complied with the applicable Standing Directions made under the Financial Management Act 1994 and Instructions.

Elana Rubin
Chairperson, VMIA Board
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identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board
conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Authority to cease to continue as a going concern.
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Attestation for financial
management compliance
with Standing Directions 5.1.4

Andrew
Andrew Greaves
Greaves
Auditor-General
Auditor-General
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Corporate governance
and compliance
Board

Capital and Risk Committee

Directions of the Assistant Treasurer

The Board is responsible for the management of the affairs
of VMIA and for exercising the powers conferred on VMIA
under the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority Act 1996.

Members as at 30 June 2020:

During the 2019–20 financial year, the Assistant Treasurer
directed VMIA, pursuant to section 25A of the Victorian Managed
Insurance Authority Act 1996, to provide the following entities
with the appropriate insurance with effect from the dates
detailed below:

The Board has established clearly defined accountabilities and
delegations for the Chief Executive Officer and other officers of
VMIA.
Directors are appointed by the Governor in Council on a
nomination of the Assistant Treasurer.

Board committees
The Board has three committees:

•

Ross Castle, Chairperson

•

Claire Keating

•

Chris Lovell

•

Glenn Sedgwick.

The committee is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board regarding the prudential policies of VMIA, monitoring
prudential policy issues and, in particular, their effect on:
•

premium pricing on capital

•

investment risk on capital

•

Audit Committee

•

insurance and reinsurance risk on capital

•

Capital and Risk Committee

•

claims trends and liability risk

•

Remuneration and Capability Committee.

•

capital attribution, including equity injection or return
of equity.

Each committee assists the Board with the specified
responsibilities set out in each committee’s charter.

Audit committee
Members as at 30 June 2020:
•

Claire Keating, Chairperson

•

Chris Lovell

•

Elana Rubin

•

Glenn Sedgwick.

The committee is responsible for the independent review and
oversight of the:
•

•

integrity and effectiveness of the systems of controls for
financial management, performance and sustainability,
accounting and financial reporting processes of VMIA,
including risk management, actuarial processes and
compliance of those processes with applicable regulatory
requirements
external and internal audit of VMIA.

The committee is also responsible for the review and oversight
of VMIA’s risk management framework, practices and systems.
The committee assists the Board in its setting of the risk appetite
and tolerance levels within which VMIA operates.
The committee has oversight of the risks to the successful
implementation of VMIA’s corporate plan.

Entity
Eligible entities as per the Victorian Private Hospital Funding Heads
of Agreement or Victorian Private Hospital Funding (COVID-19)
Agreement (from April 2020 until the conclusion of all treatments of
all public patients in private hospitals).

•

Jasmine Doak, Chairperson

•

Bronwyn King AO

•

Elana Rubin.

The committee is responsible for assisting the Board to
discharge its responsibilities in relation to VMIA’s people, their
remuneration and the culture of VMIA. The committee is also
responsible for reviewing the remuneration policy, framework
and outcomes for all employees and assessing the alignment of
the capability of VMIA to its strategic objectives.

2019–20

2018–19

Hazards identified

14*

1

Incidents reported

8

6

Workers’ compensation claims

2

5

* Includes employee-reported coronavirus hazards
(suspected exposures or risks) or illnesses since January 2020.

Employment and conduct principles
Government schools under the School Councils Insurance Program (for
a term of five years with effect from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2025 (both
dates inclusive)).

Domestic Building Insurance (DBI) to domestic builders and people
to whom section 137B of the Building Act 1993 applies for a term of
five years with effect from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2026 (both dates
inclusive) where such domestic builders or persons can demonstrate
to VMIA’s satisfaction that:
•

the DBI required is of the type specified in an applicable
order as published in the Government Gazette under section
135 of the Building Act from time to time; and

•

they comply with the underwriting terms and conditions,
including but not limited to conditions relating to premium and
security, as determined by VMIA in its absolute discretion.

Remuneration and Capability Committee
Members as at 30 June 2020:

Performance against occupational health and
safety management measures

Occupational health and safety

VMIA is committed to applying merit and equity principles
when appointing staff. The selection processes ensure applicants
are assessed and evaluated fairly and equitably on the basis
of the key selection criteria and other accountabilities without
discrimination.

Public administration values and employment
principles
VMIA has a documented suite of detailed employment
policies, including policies pertaining to recruitment, managing
performance, grievance resolution, remuneration and
redeployment. These policies are reviewed regularly to ensure
they comply with legislative requirements and contemporary
workplace practices.

Workforce data

Number of employees (headcount)

2019–20

2018–19

214

191

205.8

183.0

VMIA is committed to the health and safety of our people
and visitors. The Work Health and Safety Committee meets
every two months and has individual representatives from
the various functions across VMIA.

Number of employees (full-time equivalent)

VMIA maintains a strong approach to health and wellbeing
to ensure its people remain mentally and physically well.

All VMIA positions and employees have been classified within
VMIA’s classification structure.

Note: All figures reflect employees paid in the last full pay period of June of each
financial year. Excluded are those on leave without pay, secondees, external
contractors/consultants and temporary staff employed by employment agencies.

We provide many opportunities, including:
•

managing mental health and wellbeing in the
workplace training

•

supporting for transition through life stages
(parenthood, retirement)

•

annual health checks and flu vaccinations

•

Employee Assistance Program (EAP)

•

mental health and wellbeing programs

•

flexible work policy.

Note: Elana Rubin is a Non-Executive director of Slater and Gordon. Chris Lovell is Chairman of Holding Redlich. Slater and Gordon and Holding Redlich act for clients who
may bring a claim against VMIA. The Directors remain at arm’s length at all times and are not involved in the management of, or any decision making regarding these claims.
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Corporate governance
and compliance (continued)

Compliance with Local Jobs First Act 2003

Freedom of information

Making a request

The Local Jobs First Act 2003 requires Victorian departments and
public sector bodies to report on the implementation of the Local
Jobs First – Victorian Industry Participation Policy (Local Jobs
First – VIPP). Departments and other public sector bodies are
required to apply the Local Jobs First – VIPP for all procurement
activities valued at $3 million or more in metropolitan Melbourne
and for state-wide projects, and $1 million or more for
procurement activities based in regional Victoria.

The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FOI Act) allows the public a
right of access to documents held by VMIA. The purpose of the
FOI Act is to extend as far as possible the right of the community
to access information held by Victorian Government departments,
local councils, ministers and other bodies subject to the FOI Act.

Freedom of information requests can be lodged online and an
application fee of $29.60 applied from 1 July 2019 to 30 June
2020. Access charges may also be payable for searching and
providing access to documents.

During 2019–20 VMIA commenced one Local Jobs First Standard
project totalling around $12 million. The project was assessed
as contestable, requiring the completion of VIPP supporting
documentation. The project includes a commitment of 58.25% of
local content per project and a total commitment of retaining 1.6
existing jobs (Annualised Employee Equivalent (AEE)).

Government advertising expenditure
VMIA did not spend any money on government advertising
campaigns during 2019–20.

Information and communication technology
expenditure
For the 2019–20 reporting period, VMIA had a total information
and communication technology spend of $11.2 million excluding
GST with details shown below
Business
as usual
expenditure

Non-business
as usual
expenditure

Operational
expenditure

Capital
expenditure

($ excl GST)

($ excl GST)

($ excl GST)

($ excl GST)

$7,445,778

$3,755,604

$1,217,605

$2,537,999

An applicant has a right to apply for access to documents
held by VMIA. This comprises documents created by VMIA
or supplied to VMIA by an external organisation or individual.
Information about the type of material produced by VMIA is
available on vmia.vic.gov.au under its Freedom of Information
Part II Statement.
The FOI Act allows VMIA to refuse access, either fully or partially,
to certain documents. Examples of documents that may not be
accessed include Cabinet documents, some internal working
documents, law enforcement documents, documents covered
by legal professional privilege, personal information about third
parties, and information provided to VMIA in-confidence.
Decisions must be made by VMIA in response to requests made
pursuant to the FOI Act as soon as practicable, but within 30
calendar days. The 30-day period may be extended by up to 15
days if VMIA is required to notify and seek the views of third
parties, and it is practicable to consult with those third parties.
If VMIA refuses to grant access to a document in accordance
with the request, defers the provision of access to a document
or decides not to waive or reduce the application fee, applicants
have the right to seek a review by the Victorian Information
Commissioner. An applicant can also make a complaint to the
Victorian Information Commissioner if VMIA decides that a
document requested under the FOI Act does not exist or could
not be located.

Non-business as usual expenditure relates to extending and enhancing VMIA’s
current capability. It is the sum of operational expenditure and capital expenditure.

VMIA operates in accordance with the requirements of
the National Competition Policy and the Competitive
Neutrality Policy Victoria.

Access to documents can also be obtained through a written
request to VMIA’s Freedom of Information Officer. When making
a freedom of information request, applicants should ensure
requests are in writing, and clearly identify what types of
material/documents are being sought.

Competitive neutrality requires government businesses to ensure
where government businesses compete, or potentially compete,
with the private sector, any advantage arising solely from their
government ownership be removed if it is not in the public
interest.

Requests for documents in the possession of VMIA
should be addressed to:

Government businesses are required to cost and price these
services as if they were privately owned. Self-assessment
against the Victorian Government Competitive Neutrality Policy
determined that none of VMIA’s activities are within the scope of
the policy, as they do not constitute ‘significant business activities’
for competitive neutrality purposes.

The Freedom of Information Officer
Victorian Managed Insurance Authority
Level 10, 161 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3000
foi@vmia.vic.gov.au

During 2019–20, VMIA received 10 freedom of
information requests.

VMIA remains committed to assessing its activities to ensure
compliance with the requirements of both the National
Competition Policy and the Competitive Neutrality Policy
Victoria.

Of these requests, two were from members of Parliament,
one was from a journalist on behalf of a national newspaper
and seven were from the general public.

Compliance with the Public Interest
Disclosure Act 2012

Freedom of information statistics

VMIA made eight freedom of information decisions during the
12 months ended 30 June 2020. Of those six decisions were
made within the statutory 30-day time period and two decisions
were made within an extended statutory 30–45-day time period.
The average time taken to finalise requests in 2019–20 was
32.5 days.
During 2019–20, no requests were subject to an internal review
by the Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner.

Note: Business as usual expenditure relates to ongoing activities to operate
and maintain current information and communication technology capacity.

Compliance with the National
Competition Policy

Further information
Further information regarding the operation and scope of the
FOI Act can be obtained from the Office of the Victorian
Information Commissioner at ovic.vic.gov.au

The Public Interest Disclosure Act 2012 encourages and assists
people in making disclosures of improper conduct by public
officers and public bodies. The Public Interest Disclosure Act
2012 provides protection to people who make disclosures in
accordance with its provisions and establishes a system for the
matters disclosed to be investigated and rectifying action to be
taken.
VMIA does not tolerate improper conduct by employees, nor the
taking of reprisals against those who come forward to disclose
such conduct. VMIA is committed to ensuring transparency and
accountability in its administrative and management practices
and supports the making of disclosures that reveal corrupt
conduct, conduct involving a substantial mismanagement of public
resources, or conduct involving a substantial risk to public health
and safety or the environment.
VMIA will take all reasonable steps to protect people who make
such disclosures from any detrimental action in reprisal for
making the disclosure. It will also afford natural justice to the
person who is the subject of the disclosure to the extent it is
legally possible.
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Corporate governance
and compliance (continued)

Reporting procedures

Consultancy expenditure

The Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission
info@ibac.vic.gov.au
Phone: 1300 735 135
ibac.vic.gov.au

Social value requirements were applied to a variety of
procurement activities across a range of goods and services,
including legal services. This resulted in a direct spend by VMIA
with social benefit suppliers valued at $19,265 and indirect
spend through suppliers that have made social procurement
commitments in their procurement contracts valued at $23
million. This includes procurement from businesses operated
by Victorian Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islanders peoples.

Consultant

Purpose of consultancy

Compliance with the Carers Recognition Act 2012

Office-based environmental impacts

CourtHeath Consulting

VMIA is committed to proactively contributing to a sustainable
environment and aims to minimise its office-based environmental
impact through:

Disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental action by VMIA
or any of its employees may be made directly to:

VMIA has taken all practical measures to comply with our
obligations under the Carers Recognition Act 2012. These include
considering the carer relationship principles set out in the Act
when setting policies. These principles are reflected in VMIA’s
Flexible Work Policy and Leave policies.

•

adoption of ISO 14001 Environmental Management System
guidelines in the development of its environmental policies

Compliance with the Building Act 1993

•

VMIA does not own or control any government buildings and
is exempt from notifying its compliance with the building and
maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993.

integration of sustainability principles into the design and
fit-out of office space

•

establishing internal procedures to maximise alternative use
of redundant stationery and used office equipment

•

separating office waste into organic, commingled recyclable
and landfill streams

•

reducing paper and printer toner use with the widespread
adoption by staff of laptops, tablets, smartphones and other
digital mobile devices.

Social procurement activities
VMIA is committed to incorporating social procurement
practices in its core business and strategic functions by applying
the Victorian Government’s Social Procurement Framework
(Framework). In doing so, VMIA will use its purchasing power
to generate social value above and beyond the value of the
goods and services it procures.
During the 2019–20 financial year VMIA undertook a range of
activities to support the implementation of the Framework and to
find opportunities to maximise the take of up social procurement
through its procurement activity.
VMIA focused on a number of the Framework’s objectives
including:
•

opportunities for Victorian
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander peoples

•

women’s equality and safety

•

supporting safe and fair workplaces

•

environmentally sustainable outputs.

Modern slavery
The Australian Government enacted the Modern Slavery Act 2018
(Cth) (MS Act) to address modern slavery risks within supply
chains. The MS Act covers a range of offences, including forced
labour, deceptive recruiting, slavery, servitude, debt bondage,
human trafficking, and offences involving non-citizens working in
Australia without the correct visa.
VMIA has committed to the principles of the MS Act through new
provisions in supplier contracts requiring suppliers to comply
with the MS Act (where applicable), report to VMIA on their
supply chain monitoring, and to include a right for VMIA to make
enquiries of suppliers about their compliance with the MS Act.

In 2019–20, there were 21 consultancies where the total fees paid or payable were $10,000 or greater, excluding GST. The total
expenditure was $2.3 million excluding GST. Details of individual consultancies are outlined below.

Total
expenditure
($ excl GST)

Expenditure
2019–20
($ excl GST)

Future
expenditure
($ excl GST)

Probity and procurement advice Strategy
2024 IT platform

$71,471

$71,471

–

Dawson McDonald Consulting

Culture and change program

$12,600

$12,600

–

Deloitte Consulting Pty Limited

Strategy 2024 IT platform transition planning

$48,500

$48,500

–

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Strategy 2024 Benefits Business Case preparation

$230,269

$230,269

–

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

VMIA’s Strategy 2024 Benefits Mapping

$96,076

$96,076

–

Entheos Consulting

Culture and change program

$50,760

$50,760

–

Forrester Research Australia Pty Ltd

Strategy 2024 IT platform implementation planning

$37,500

$37,500

–

Hazel Greenhalgh Consulting Pty Ltd

Insurance specialist services

$10,950

$10,950

–

Innodev Pty Ltd

IT operating model

$72,745

$72,745

–

Inscon Pty Ltd

Advisory services for broker tender

$12,500

$12,500

–

Integral Technology Solutions Pty Ltd

Strategy 2024 IT Solution services

$60,600

$54,600

$6,000

Kirkland & Associates Pty Ltd

Medical Indemnity Taxonomy Project

$31,543

$31,543

–

Kristian Gehradte Photography Pty Ltd

Photography services

$12,475

$12,475

–

Ngamuru Advisory Pty Ltd

Better Patient Safety Strategy Refresh

$18,000

$18,000

–

Pitcher Partners Consulting Pty Ltd

IT Strategy consulting

$66,353

$66,353

–

Pitcher Partners Consulting Pty Ltd

Procurement advice for VMIA Strategy
2024 IT platform

$59,000

$59,000

–

Pricewaterhouse Coopers

Cyber risk assessment services

$57,988

$19,890

$38,098

The Burnet Institute

Development of Statewide Maternity
Education Framework

$44,568

$44,568

–

Victoria University

Data analysis services

$87,286

$87,286

–

KPMG Financial Advisory Services

Strategy 2024 Data and Insights Project phase 2

$599,184

$599,184

KPMG Financial Advisory Services

Strategic Data Infrastructure services

$551,200

$275,000

$276,200

In 2019–20, there were no consultancies where the total fees paid or payable were less than $10,000 excluding GST.
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Disclosure
index
Disclosure index
The Annual Report of VMIA is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislation and pronouncements.
This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of VMIA’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Legislation

Requirement

Page

Legislation

Requirement

Ministerial Directions and Financial Reporting Directions

Ministerial Directions and Financial Reporting Directions

Report of operations

Financial statements

Charter and purpose

Declaration

FRD 22H

Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers

FRD 22H

Purpose, functions, powers and duties

FRD 22H

Key initiatives and projects

FRD 22H

Nature and range of services provided

4
4
11–29
4–5

SD 5.2.2

Declaration in financial statements

76

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2
SD 5.2.1(a)

Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative pronouncements

76

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements

Management and structure
FRD 22H

Page

Organisational structure

FRD 21C

Disclosures of responsible persons, executive officers and other personnel

72

FRD 103H

Non-financial physical assets

35

FRD 106B

Impairment of assets

54

88–89

FRD 109A

Intangible assets

35

10

Financial and other information
FRD 10A

Disclosure index

FRD 15E

Executive officer disclosures

10

FRD 110A

Cash flow statement

37

FRD 22H

Employment and conduct principles

83

FRD 112D

Defined benefit superannuation obligations

60

FRD 22H

Occupational Health and Safety Policy

83

FRD 114C

Financial Instruments – Public Finance Corporations

58

FRD 22H

Summary of financial results for the year

30–31

FRD 119A

Transfers through contributed capital

61

FRD 22H

Significant changes in financial position during the year

31

FRD 120M

Accounting and reporting pronouncements applicable to 2019–20 reporting period

71

FRD 22H

Major changes or factors affecting performance

31

FRD 22H

Subsequent events

75

FRD 22H

Application and Operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982

85

FRD 22H

Compliance with Building and Maintenance Provisions of Building Act 1993

86

FRD 22H

Statement on National Competition Policy

85

FRD 22H

Application and Operation of Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012

85

FRD 22H

Application and Operation of Carers Recognition Act 2012

86

FRD 22H

Details of consultancies over $10,000

87

FRD 22H

Details of consultancies under $10,000

87

FRD 22H

Disclosure of government advertising expenditure

84

FRD 22H

Disclosure of ICT expenditure

84

FRD 22H

Statement of availability of other information

85

FRD 24D

Reporting of office-based environmental impacts

86

FRD 25D

Local Jobs First disclosures

84

FRD 29C

Workforce data disclosures

85

S.D 5.2

Specific requirements under Standing Direction 5.2

76

Legislation
Audit Act 1994

77–78

Borrowing and Investment Powers Act 1987

56–57

Building Act 1993

86

Carers Recognition Act 2012

86

Constitution Act 1975

77

Disability Act 2006
Financial Management Act 1994

77
5,76–78

Freedom of Information Act 1982

84

Income Tax Assessment Act 1936

38

Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968

72

Protected Disclosure Act 2012

85

State Owned Enterprises Act 1992

62

Local Jobs First Act 2003
Victorian Managed Insurance Authority Act 1996

84
4,38,62,80–81

Compliance attestation and declaration
SD 5.1.4

Attestation for compliance with Ministerial Standing Direction

SD 5.2.3

Declaration of Report of Operations

88

79
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